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Executive Summary 
There are numerous reasons why SMEs need a loan, including the financing of new branches 
or new projects and many more. SMEs do not always have the capacity to finance their own 
business therefore they sometimes need to turn to other financers. The majority of the studies 
conducted in this field argue that lenders depend on, and use financial and auditing reports 
and accounts, as key elements in their decision making when considering to grand a loan. 
Even tough there are theories on how accounting information should be used there is still a 
little known about how the financial information is used in practise during loan application.  
 
The main purpose of this bachelor thesis is to study how banks use financial statements during 
SMEs’ loan granting.  The underlying purpose of our thesis is to offer suggestions to SMEs so 
that based on financial statements; they can make their loan applications more successful. We 
wanted to answer the question: “How do banks use financial reports and accounts during 
SMEs’ loan granting”?  
 
In order to achieve our goals, we used a qualitative and deductive scientific method. The 
empirical material and data has been collected through four face-to-face interviews with the 
three major banks operating in Umeå. We focus on the loan decision making from a lenders 
point of view. 
 
We introduce the theoretical framework by presenting the main contents of financial reports 
and accounts. Then, we continue discussing the character of SMEs in Sweden. We also 
present the nature and the character of different risks and the fundamental credit evaluation 
systems used by banks. Finally, we present how social network can affect the credit 
assessment for SMEs. 
 
Our empirical findings are based on four semi- structured interviews with four bank 
professionals working with credit assessment for SMEs in their respective banks. Through the 
analysis of the empirical finding, we found that financial and accounting information is 
significant during credit assessment for SMEs, especially when it comes to evaluate their 
repayment ability and control of their financial stability. Some suggestions were given such as 
a good preparation and planning of the business idea before a loan application.  
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1. Introduction 
In this chapter we present the reason why we are interested in studding this subject. First of 
all, we introduce the background of the problem that will lead to the problem treated in our 
thesis. Secondly, we present the purpose of our study and its limitations. Finally, we close this 
chapter by defining some of the key words that are frequently used in this thesis in order to 
facilitate its understanding. 
 
1.1 Problem background 
Most of companies present an annual financial report and accounts. The main purpose of the 
report and accounts is to keep shareholders informed about the company’s activities, progress 
and future financial plans.1 The shareholders are not the only interest groups; there are many 
other interest groups that need to know the company’s financial situation. These interest 
groups comprise the company’s employees, the customers, the suppliers, the political 
authorities through tax office and most of all the lenders. Since we limit our study to small 
and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) where most of them have closely held ownership, the 
lenders become the most important interest group to whom the company’s financial reports 
and accounts are addressed.2 
 
According to the Financial and Accounting Standards Board (FASB) a company’s financial 
reports and accounts have to give relevant, reliable, credible, true and fair financial 
information to the users to help them in their decision-making concerning investments and 
loans. Furthermore, investors and lenders are the “major” user groups of the financial 
information and therefore they are assumed to be mainly interested in the amounts, timing, 
and uncertainties of the future cash flows.3 A true and fair financial report must be relevant 
and understandable for those who need and use it. Its relevance reduces uncertainty and 
makes the financial report easy to understand for decision makers. Moreover, a financial 
report must be accessible, comprehensible, and up to date during the time it is used.4 There 
are many other requirements and qualitative aspects that characterize a true and fair financial 
report. Since this is not the main point of our thesis we are not going to talk about them here.  
 
Many studies have been done these last decades on the financial, accounting and auditing 
field. Most of the studies argue that lenders need and use the financial and auditing reports 
and accounts as one of the key elements in their decision-making when considering loan 
granting. The financial and auditing information is used to evaluate the probability that a 
company will be able to pay back its loans and rates of interest. There are many models of 
credit risk assessment, and all of them make reference to how financial reports and accounts 
in combination with individual and market judgements are important when lenders grant loans 
to SMEs.5 According to the Financial and Accounting Standards Board (FASB), all users of 
financial information must make some efforts to understand the financial information they get 
from a company. They have also to possess some reasonable understanding of business and 
economic activities and be willing to study the information with reasonable diligence.6 
 
                                                 
1 Holmes, Geoffrey; Sugden, Alan; Gee, Paul (2005), Interpreting company reports and accounts, Harlow: 
Financial Times Prentice Hall, p.1 
2 Donleavy, G. D., 1994 cited by Svensson, Birgitta (2000) 
3  Svensson, Birgitta (2000), Redovisningsinformation for kreditbeslut, Uppsala Univ. , Företagsekonomiska 
Institutionen, p. 4 
4Ibid. 
5 Ibid. p. 6 
6 Ibid. p. 7 
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Although there have been many studies conducted in the financial and auditing field, most 
were focused on the need and use of company financial reports and accounts by the company 
shareholders.7 There is a great need for more information concerning how banks and financial 
institutions on their credit assessment process use the financial information for SMEs.8  
 
There are many options for SMEs to finance their business. Firstly, they can use their internal 
generated founds. Secondly, they can turn to equity financing by addressing closely related 
investors. Thirdly, SMEs can use external equity financing and external debt financing. 
However these types of financing are limited because most of SMEs are privately managed. 
Finally, SMEs can use private placements and corporate bonds, unfortunately these kind of 
financing are too expensive for them or have limited resources. Consequently, bank loans 
seem to be a good option for SMEs to finance SMEs’ capital needs.9 The most important part 
in our study is to know and understand how Swedish banks handle SMEs’ loan applications. 
According to the Swedish Banking Business Act (SFS 1987:617), there are some regulations 
that banks have to follow in order to assess a company’s loan application. Banks have to 
know about the borrower’s financial situation and evaluate the borrower’s creditworthiness.   
 
There is a gap between theories concerning how the accounting information should be used 
and how the accounting information is actually used in practice. Although there are many 
theoretical assumptions about how the financial information should be used during a credit 
assessment process, there is little known about how financial information affects credit 
assessment process for SMEs.  
 
 
1.2 Purpose and Research question 
The main goal of our thesis is to analyse how banks use financial reports and accounts during 
SMEs’ loan granting. Additionally, this thesis will analyse which kind of information in the 
financial reports and accounts do lenders prioritise when deciding to grant a loan to SMEs. 
  
By using theoretical perspectives and practical experience, we attempt to provide an increased 
understanding in this field and contribute to enlighten this topic. Furthermore, this thesis may 
provide possible suggestions to SMEs in order to improve their position when applying for a 
loan in banks and financial institutions.  
 
Our research question can be summarized in these terms: “How do banks use financial reports 
and accounts during SMEs’ loan granting”?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
                                                 
7Svensson, B. (2000) p.6 
8 Ibid. p.4 
9 Bruns, Volker (2004), Who receives bank loans? A study of lending officers’ assessments of loans to growing 
small and medium-sized enterprises, Jönköping International Business School Ltd., Dissertation series No. 021, 
Jönköping.  



 10

 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 1: The main purpose and sub-purposes of the thesis 
 
1.3 Limitations  
First we decided to limit our study to Swedish banks. We want to know which relationship 
exists between the financial information and credit assessment. Since most lenders are banks 
and financial institutions, we find that it will be more relevant to focus on banks. Secondly, 
our study will only focus on credit and loan granting for SMEs. Since most of SMEs have 
closely held ownership, the lenders become the main important interest group for which 
company financial reports and accounts are addressed.10 
 
1.4 Definitions 
Lenders: By lenders, we mean all financial institutions and banks that act as financing 
companies through loans and credits that will be paid in short or long term with an interest 
rate. 
 
Financial information and accounts: By financial information and accounts, we mean all kind 
of information disclosed by companies in their financial and auditing reports and statements. 
Financial information and accounts primarily include a directors’ report, a profit and loss 
account, a balance sheet, an auditors’ report and notes. 
 
Small companies (enterprises): According to the European Union (EU), all companies with a 
number of employees between 10 and 49, and an annual turnover or annual balance sheet of 
total assets employed that does not exceed 10 million euros.11  
 
Medium sized companies (enterprises): According to the European Union (EU), all companies 
with a number of employees between 50 and 249 where the company’s annual turnover does 
not exceed 50 million euros, or the company’s annual balance sheet of total assets employed 
does not exceed 43 million euros.12 

                                                 
10 Donleavy, G. D.; cited by Svensson (2000) 
11 Sveriges Riksdag, EU-upplysningen, retrieved 10.12.2006, www.eu-upplysningen.se 
12 Ibid.  

Main Purpose: 
To analyse how banks use financial 
reports and accounts during SMEs’ loan 
granting. 

 Identify banks’ credit 
assessment process and 
policy 

 Identify which kind 
of financial 
information is 
important 

Make recommendations 
for how SMEs can 
improve their loan 
applications 
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A lending officer is a bank employee who is involved in SMEs’ credit applications. However, 
most of the time the lending officer does not make the final credit decision but influences the 
decision through his/her assessment.13 
 
1.5 The structure of the thesis 
In chapter 2 we present our theoretical method. Here we explain why we chose to conduct a 
qualitative study and describe how our perspective has affected our work. We also talk about 
how we evaluated the data we collected and how we made choices about the literature used. 
This part is aimed to present the outline of our thesis and set our research perspective.  
 
In Chapter 3, we describe the keys part of the financial reports and accounts and particularly 
for SMEs. We then discuss the main criteria that financial statements must fulfil according to 
the Accounting Standard Board (ASB). Through this chapter, the reader will get familiar with 
the different parts of a financial report in order to make it easier for him/her to understand the 
theoretical and empirical parts. 
 
Chapter 4 presents the theoretical framework and discusses the character of SMEs and the 
credit assessment in Sweden. The nature and character of different credit risks are also 
presented in order to help and stimulate an understanding of the business relationship between 
SMEs and banks. 
 
Chapter 5 gives information about the practical method of our empirical studies. We describe 
and discuss the selection and the choice of our respondents and the companies used in the 
study. We go on to discuss how we selected and proceeded in our interviews. We finally close 
this chapter by discussing the credibility criteria. By this, the reader will be able to understand 
how we connected the chosen theories with the conducted interviews. 
 
In chapter 6, we introduce and present the three banks where we conducted our interviews and 
the four respondents who participated in and contributed to our interviews. This will help the 
reader to get a have an idea about which banks and lending officers were included in our 
study and increase the credibility of this thesis.  
 
Chapter 7 consists of the results of our empirical findings. In order to make the reading easier 
and more understandable, we present the empirical findings in three different parts. We 
disguise the names of our respondents and their respective banks in order to present our 
results as accurately as possible. Through this chapter, the reader will get the information that 
will make it easier to understand the analysis.  
 
Chapter 8 brings together the chosen theories and the results from the empirical studies in 
order to perform an analysis. Our analysis is based on each of the three different sections of 
the empirical findings. 
 
Chapter 9 links together our research question, purpose, theoretical framework and empirical 
findings. We begin by summarizing our topic based on the empirical results and the presented 
analysis. We then discuss how SMEs can improve their chance to get a loan. Finally, we 
suggest some possible directions for future research in this field. 
                                                 
13 Bruns, Volker (2004), Who receives bank loans? A study of lending officers’ assessments of loans to growing 
small and medium-sized enterprises, Jönköping International Business School Ltd., Dissertation Series No. 021, 
Jönköping, p.27  
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2. Theoretical Method 
The method chapter explains why we chose this topic and why we decided to conduct a 
qualitative study. We talk about how our grasp of reality has affected this work. Moreover, we 
tell how we evaluated the data that we gathered and how we made choices about the 
literature that we used. 
 
2.1 Choice of topic 
We cannot say that the choice of the topic of our thesis has been an easy task. This chosen 
topic that we decided to analyse is a product of many long discussions between us, the 
authors, and also with our tutor, Margareta Paulsson. We both study business administration 
with finance and accounting as our major field. Since our most recent courses focused on 
accounting, we actually thought that the topic in our thesis would be focused on accounting 
theories. After further thought, we concluded that a study on the accounting that we hade 
chosen will not be easy to put into practice. However, we were still interested in writing on a 
subject correlated to accounting. Therefore, we decided to study a topic that combines both 
accounting and finance. 
 
The decision-making process concerning credits and risk assessment involves two partners. 
The company or firm that requires credit/loan, and there is the lenders. We decided to focus 
on just one of the two involved partners, the lenders. We were most of all inspired by a study 
of Birgitta Svensson in the behalf of the Swedish Accounting Board (SRN) in 1999. 
Therefore, we decided to limit ourselves to only commercial banks operating in Umeå such as 
Swedbank, Handelsbanken, and SEB.  
 
2.2 Preconceptions 
One cannot pretend to analyse or study a new scientific field or topic without being influenced 
by one’s prior knowledge. We both needed to use our prior knowledge to understand what we 
were going to write about and analyse this new area of study with what we already knew 
about it. We have been studying together since the beginning of our academic studies and we 
have known each other for a couple of years. This made it easier for us to discuss and reflect 
on the chosen topic. However, neither of us have a prior experience in the financial area. Most 
of the knowledge was gathered during the journey in the writing of this thesis.  
 
We took advantage of our prior academic studies in different fields to help us understand 
different theories that we use in our thesis. We were able to understand most of those theories 
thanks to the pre-knowledge that we gathered from our studies in business administration and 
economics. Most of all, our previous studies in accounting and finance, statistics and business 
English were of great help. We believe that without these studies, it would have been much 
more difficult for us to understand and work with the theoretical and empirical frames. In 
addition, the course in research methodology in business administration has also been helpful 
for our theoretical method. 
 
Finally, we think that it could have been easier if we hade more preconceptions about this 
topic. However, this lack of preconceptions may have been to our advantage.    
 
2.3 Research approach 
There are two different research strategies used to conduct scientific studies and analyses, the 
quantitative and the qualitative research strategies. For many writers, those two research 
strategies differ primarily with respect to their epistemological foundations. However, what 
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makes a researcher choose between the two strategies depends on the nature and the purpose 
of the problem in the studied topic.14  
 
Quantitative research can be constructed as a research strategy that emphasizes quantification 
in the collection and analysis of data. This strategy entails a deductive approach to the 
relationship between theory and research, in which the emphasis is placed on the testing of 
theories.15 Since the aim our study is not to test a hypothesis empirically or to see how a 
specific group or market react s to special conditions16, we found that this scientific method is 
not appropriate to our thesis. 
 
The qualitative research strategy on the other hand, emphasizes words rather than 
quantification in the collection and analysis of data. This research strategy predominantly 
emphasizes an inductive approach to the relationship between theory and research, in which 
the emphasis is placed on the generation of theories.17 The aim of our study is to better 
understand the usefulness of financial statements during credit assessment. Therefore, we 
found that the qualitative method is more appropriate for our study. We decided to conduct 
interviews with lending officers dealing with SMEs’ loan applications in order to get relevant 
information for our study. 
 
The decision – model approach asks what information is needed for making decisions. The 
decision – model approach is normative and deductive.18 Decision – model approaches are 
deemed appropriate for communicating extremely relevant information for decision-making.19 
Our underlying purpose is to be able to give helpful suggestions to SMEs in order to make 
their loan applications more successful. Therefore, we found that this model is appropriate to 
our study since we want to know what kind of information is useful for banks during SMEs’ 
loan granting.  
 
Behavioural research seeks to understand what information is selected and how is processed.  
The main concern with behavioural research is how users of accounting information make 
decisions and what information they need. 20 Since, we want to know which parts of the 
financial statements are more significant for lending officers during SMEs’ credit assessment, 
we found that even this scientific approach is relevant for our thesis.  
 
2.4 Scientific approach 
Earlier, we argued that the choice of which strategy a researcher uses in his/her analysis 
mainly depends on the nature and the purpose of the study he/she is conducting. The scientific 
concept that he or she will follow is another issue that the researcher must take into 
consideration before conducting interviews and analysing data in aim to create an overall 
concept of the thesis.21 We are aware that the choice of the scientific approach should also be 
based on the research question and the aim of the study. 
 

                                                 
14 Bryman, Alan; Bell, Emma (2003), Business research methods, Oxford University Press, p. 25 
15Ibid. 
16 Saunders, Mark; Lewis, Philip; Thornhill, Adrian (2003), Research Methods for Business Students, 3rd edition, 
Prentice hall, London 
17 Ibid. 
18 Ibid. 
19 Ibid. p. 179 
20 Wolk, H. I. et al. (2004), p. 42 
21 Bryman & Bell (2003) 
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There are two main approaches in a scientific analysis, the deductive and the inductive 
thinking. In the inductive thinking, “the researcher deduces the implications of his/her 
findings for the theory that prompted the whole study”. The deductive thinking searches for 
the use of existing of theoretical frameworks so that the researcher can test a hypothesis 
empirically and draw a conclusion and a new theory out of these tests. The researcher (on the 
basis of what is known about in particular domain and of theoretical considerations in relation 
to that domain) deduces a hypothesis (or hypotheses) that must then be subjected to empirical 
analysis. 22 
 
The data gathered from interviews will be used as platforms to increase the knowledge about 
how lenders use company’s financial information during credit assessment. Moreover, we 
want to link the existing theories about credit assessment and process with the empirical 
findings from the conducted interviews with our respondents. Therefore, our thesis uses the 
deductive approach and has an explanatory nature.  
 
2.5 Epistemological considerations 
A central issue in epistemology is whether the social world can and should be studied 
according to the same principles, procedures, and ethos as the natural sciences. We can also 
ask what is or should be considered as acceptable knowledge in a field. We find three main 
epistemological positions in the scientific theories and researches: positivism, interpretivism 
and realism. 23  
 
Positivism stresses the importance of imitating the natural sciences and advocates the 
application of those methods to the study of social reality and beyond. In contrast, 
interpretivism is critical toward the application of the scientific model to the study of social 
phenomena. This approach states that a strategy is required to respect the differences between 
people and objects of the natural sciences. Thus, the social scientist has to understand the deep 
meaning of social action. Realism states that reality exists independently of the researchers’ 
thoughts and beliefs.24   
 
The results of our thesis are mainly based on the collected empirical data from the conducted 
qualitative interviews with the lending officers in the three major commercial banks in 
Sweden. We are aware that the respondents own experiences and subjective opinions play an 
important role in the process of illuminating our topic. Because our analysis of collected data 
will be influenced by the outcome of the conducted qualitative interviews, our thesis is 
following an interpretive scientific approach. 
 
2.6 Contributions and choice of perspective 
How the researcher sees the reality depends on which perspective he/she has. The choice of 
perspective in research helps to direct the writer when studying and solving the research 
problem. 25We think that it is important that the writer explains the motive of the choice of the 
perspective. As already mentioned, the purpose of this thesis is to study the importance of 
SMEs’ financial statements on credit assessment. The thesis shall contribute to improve the 
SMEs’ knowledge of how banks assess their credit granting. Moreover, the thesis may answer 
and guide SMEs on how to make their financial statements more interesting when applying 
                                                 
22 Bryman & Bell (2003) 
23 Ibid. 
24 Ibid. 
25 Lundahl, Ulf; Skärvard, Per-Hugo (1999), Utredningsmetodik för samhällsvetare och ekonomer, Lund: 
Student litteratur, p.62 
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for a credit. We can say that we take a SMEs’ perspective since our thesis will be more 
profitable to SMEs and is mainly addressed to managers of SMEs.   
 
Due to the SMEs perspective that we chose to use in this thesis, we think that the suitable 
respondents for our interview will mostly be the lending banks that deal with credit 
assessment for SMEs. By doing like that, we think that we will get the main information 
needed by banks and what they expect from the SMEs when companies are applying for loan. 
 
2.7 Choice of theories 
Theory can be defined as “an explanation of observed regularities”. It helps to guide and 
influence the writer when it comes to the collection and the analysis of the data.26  
 
We made a lot of effort to find theories that could help us when collecting the data. We could 
find some theories that were closely linked with some part of our research topic. Nevertheless, 
we were unable to find theories that were directly and specifically connected to some of the 
specific parts of the topic, most of them were more general.  
 
In the chapter dedicated to financial reports and accounts, we mostly present and explain the 
main parts of financial statements. It is important to understand and to know what kind of 
information is required in financial statements. We also explain the principles for financial 
reporting since every company has to follow them. This information allow to the reader to 
better understand and follow the further discussion in the theoretical and empirical parts.  
 
In the theoretical framework, we discuss the character and the nature of SMEs. We also 
develop in general the credit assessment process and present some basic risks associated with 
credit. The social network theory is also presented and discussed in this part. Through this 
part, we want to help and stimulate an understanding of the business relationship between 
SMEs and banks. 
 
2.8 Secondary sources collections 
We used several books and some scientific articles as secondary sources in our study. We also 
use Internet sources. Since we knew that this kind of source is less reliable, we only limited 
the use of Internet sources to web pages of well-knows organisations and institutions.  
 
However the process of searching and collecting this material was not really an easy way. 
Although, there were some interesting books written by researchers in this topic, it was not 
easy to get all of them. We also used Internet but to some extent, not really so much just when 
we were searching for articles and information about the topic.  
 
On the B-level studies, we had a course in research methodology in business administration 
where we dealt mostly with how to process information while writing an academic text. We 
used in our thesis the knowledge we got from this course to access and search in databases 
that we found via ALBUM on the website of Umeå university library. Furthermore we used 
other prior knowledge to search information in other databases like Jstor, FAR (Balans), 
Business Source Premier and LIBRIS.  
 
We used some keywords while searching on Internet such as financial information, auditing 
information, accounting information, bank lending, credit assessment, credit-risk, loan and 

                                                 
26Bryman & Bell (2003), p.7 
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credit granting, SME. Since our topic was dealing with SMEs in Sweden, we were more 
interested in studies done in Sweden. However, as we could not find so much information 
from Swedish authors, we also searched literature from researchers outside of Sweden. We 
believe that this information was relevant and useful for this thesis. 
 
2.9 Criticism of secondary sources 
As mentioned before, a great deal of secondary sources is used in this thesis and it is not 
always easy to get the right information. Since we have a limited time and schedule to be 
respected, the information we needed for our research was not all available when we needed 
it. Therefore, we could not use and include all the information and sources as previously 
planned.  
 
Another small limitation was that some of the books used were in Swedish. Thus, this can be 
an obstacle for readers who do not speak Swedish in case they would want to follow the 
source. Since we wrote in English, we needed more time and focus on translation and 
understanding of the information from Swedish sources. This process may sometimes lead to 
some misunderstandings due to translation errors and language bias.  Nevertheless, we 
avoided these issues by using few of such sources. 
 
We linked the information in the books with our topic. Since we were working on the thesis in 
couple, we always discussed and collaborated about what we have to include in the theoretical 
and practical method parts of our work. As a reference, we used most of the books written in 
this field. Consequently, we believe that the sources and information in our thesis were 
relevant and accurate.  
 
Finally, we used the Internet as a source of information in our thesis. We are aware of the low 
level of scientific relevance of this kind of information. However, most of the information we 
used was from official websites of well-known companies and financial institutions such as 
Swedbank or Handelsbanken. The information found on these official websites was only used 
in the section where we presented these financial institutions. Therefore, this information 
cannot directly influence the results, analysis and conclusions in our thesis. 
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3. Legal framework: The financial Reports and Accounts, 
their contents and principles. 
In this chapter, we provide some key definitions and concepts used in financial reports and 
accounts. The chapter also contains the major sections that constitute financial reports and 
accounts for companies. In addition, we give the main criteria that financial statements must 
fulfil according to the Accounting Standard Board (ASB) so that the reader can better 
understand the different parts in financial statements. 
 
3.1 Definitions 
The financial reports and accounts are normally produced by most of the companies at the end 
of the year. It is the principal way to keep shareholders and other company’s interest groups 
informed about any given company’s activities, and a way to show how the company is 
functioning financially. The content and style of a company’s financial reports and accounts 
vary somewhat depending upon the director’s views concerning its use as a public relations 
medium.27 
 
This financial information about the company’s activities and resources is typically of interest 
to many people. Although some of these people are within their rights to request the 
preparation of special purpose financial reports in order to obtain the information they need, 
the vast majority will need to rely on general purpose financial reports.28 
 
To keep employees informed, some companies give a summary of their reports and accounts 
to all employees or the companies include extracts in their house newspaper. Some companies 
produce a separate company’s profile and distribute to shareholders and/ or employees. 
However, other companies maintain that any unnecessary disclosure is risky in case 
competitors may use the information. Nevertheless there is a minimum of information that 
must be disclosed to comply with the law. For example, the annual report and accounts must 
by law contain four basic components:29 

1) A director’s report; 
2) A profit and loss account; 
3) A balance sheet; and 
4) An auditor’s report 

 
Beyond the four primary financial statements recommended by the law, the financial report 
and accounts may also include a cash flow statement, notes explaining the financial 
statements and a statement of accounting policies. The notes and the primary financial 
statements form an integrated whole, and should be read as such to obtain a complete 
picture.30 
 
3.2 Contents 
3.2.1 The director’s report 
The main purpose of a director’s report is to give information, some of which is obvious from 
the accounts, some of which is of comparatively little interest either to shareholders or 
analysts. This information often seems to be motivated by political considerations, e.g. 

                                                 
27 Holmes, G. et al. (2005), p. 1 
28 Ibid. p.12 
29Ibid. p.2 
30 Ibid. p.11 
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contributions for political purposes. However it may be of vital interest and importance to a 
reader interpreting the accounts, e.g. the review of the year and likely future development. 
The director’s report must also state the names of the directors and give details of their 
shareholdings. It must provide particulars of significant changes in fixed assets and describe 
important events that have occurred since the end of the year, called post balance sheet 
events.31  
 
3.2.2 The profit and loss account 
The profit and loss account, also called the income statement, is a record of the activities of a 
company for a stated period of time. This period, called the accounting period, is normally a 
year. Accounts are required to include the figures for two periods, normally those for the year 
being reported on and for the preceding year. This addition makes comparison easier.32 
 
3.2.3 The balance sheet 
The balance sheet is a statement of the assets and liabilities and ownership interest of a 
company at the close of business on a given day, i.e. on the balance sheet date. It is always 
drawn up on the last day of the company’s accounting period.33 
 
3.3 Principles for Financial Reporting 
In December 1999, the Statement of Principles for financial reporting (StoP) was published. 
The Accounting Standards Board (ASB) took a position that a common set of principles was 
necessary to achieve further harmonisation in international accounting practice. Some of those 
principles are such as reliability, relevance, consistency, completeness, neutrality and 
understanding to the user. The StoP spells out a number of further accounting concepts and 
principles.34 
 
3.3.1 Substance over form 
“Items have to be accounted in such a way as to reflect their commercial substance rather 
than their legal form, in case these differ”. For example, a company that for all practical 
purposes owns an asset, but is not technically the legal owner, must include that asset in its 
balance sheet.35 
 
3.3.2 Materiality 
According to StoP, any immaterial information does not have to be included in financial 
statements.36 Only material information can be disclosed in financial reports and accounts. 
Still, we were not able to find any clear definition in the standard about materiality.   
 
3.3.3 Comparability 
For users of the financial information, it should be possible and easy to compare a company’s 
financial information over time in order to identify trends in its financial performance and 
financial position. Comparability can be distorted if the company’s numbers are adjusted in 
order to permit for the effects of general inflation. This can also happen if a company changes 
its accounting policies. Moreover, users need to be able to compare the financial information 
of different companies in order to evaluate their relative financial performance and financial 
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33 Ibid. p.4 
34 Ibid. p.5 
35 Ibid. p.10 
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position. In this case, comparability between companies can be distorted if they use different 
accounting policies or if they finance their assets differently.37 

 
3.3.4 Financial adaptability 
Financial adaptability implies the company’s ability to take effective actions to modify the 
amount and timing of the company’s cash flows. The purpose with this is to react to 
unexpected needs or opportunities. This may include whether the company is in a position to 
issue more equity, to increase borrowings or to sell off surplus assets.38 
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38  Ibid. 



 20

4. Theoretical framework 
This chapter contains the theoretical basis for the empirical study and analysis. At first, we 
give and discuss the character of SMEs in Sweden. Second, we present the nature and the 
character of different risks in order to help and stimulate an understanding of the business 
between SMEs and banks. Since credit risk is the substantial determinant factor in the bank 
credit assessment, we finally discuss different credit evaluation systems used by banks during 
the credit-decision making.   
 
4.1 Introduction 
There are many theoretical perspectives that can be relevant when one wants to study or 
understand credit assessment to SMEs. Previous studies have identified several factors that 
influence lending officers’ credit assessment. On one hand, some studies argue that the 
characteristics of the borrower are the most important factors during a credit assessment. On 
the other hand, other studies disagree and keep on pointing out that the borrower’s financial 
conditions that show that the borrower has the future ability to service a credit are more 
substantial. Other research argues that for the borrowers who offer sufficient collateral or 
security, the lending becomes easier. Thus, the bank has another means of repayment in case 
the borrower will default on the credit. Finally we have studies that indicate that the credit 
assessment is composed both by specific, quantifiable information and qualitative 
judgements. An example of this last argument is the Five C’s lending that will be developed 
later in this section. 39  
 
The theories used in this thesis were chosen based on their closeness to the research area. 
Most of the theories are supposed to cover most of the aspects that are connected to the credit 
assessment process for a company, in particularly a SME, and to the usefulness of the 
financial statements during that process. The underlying idea of this bachelor thesis was to 
reach and identify the key factors that affect a SME’s creditworthiness based on its financial 
statements. We chose to divide our theory section into two parts in order to simplify the 
reading and to facilitate the understanding for the readers.  
 
4.2 Part 1: SMEs’ needs of loan, handling of SMEs’ loans, and credit risk 
Through this part we wanted to provide to the readers a general and better understanding of 
the whole research area. To begin with, this part gives some of the reasons why a company 
need a loan. Secondly, it explains how Swedish banks operate during a credit assessment. 
Since the thesis is dealing with credit assessment, it becomes important to understand 
financial risks and here, we focused more on the credit risk.   
 
4.2.1 Why do SMEs need loans? 
This part introduces the reasons that push companies to apply for loans and is therefore 
supposed to help the reader to understand how business between banks and companies arise 
and give a picture on how it generally works.   
 
There are several reasons why a SME need a loan such us the financing of new branches, of 
new projects and more. Companies do not always have the capacity for finance their own 
business that is why they have sometimes to turn to other financers. However, when 
companies need new capital, they firstly resort to their internal generated funds. After these 
sources, SMEs turn to equity financing by addressing closely related investors. These sources 
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exhibit very low costs and may be for example equity capital from the owner, family or 
friends.40 Despite these, there are others types of financing that one can use: external equity 
financing and external debt financing. For SMEs, possibilities for using external equity 
finance are limited since the majority of these companies are privately managed. Companies 
can also use a venture capitalist, which also is another type of equity finance. However, these 
possibilities are difficult for SMEs since most of them do not always meet the return 
expectations. They thereby become less attractive for this group of investors. Other 
alternatives to financing are private placements and corporate bonds. Unfortunately, these 
types of financing are too expensive for SMEs or have limited resources.41 Therefore bank 
loans seem to be an appropriate way to finance SMEs’ capital requirements and seem to be an 
appropriate way. As a result, SMEs prefer most frequently debt funding by bank loans. The 
bank financing is tremendously attractive and seems to be a realistic and available source.42  
 
4.2.2 How banks handle credit lending to SMEs  
Swedish banking system is organised in a way that banks have two sources of capital 
accessible for lending. The first one is to lend their private and institutional customers’ 
deposits. The second one is to lend their shareholders’ equity. Banks within the European 
Union, and thereby the Swedish banks, are only allowed to lend up to 12,5 times of their 
equity and have to make sure that a certain amount of the credit is covered by the equity of the 
banks. Banks have to follow a law that requires them to be informed of the borrower’s 
financial situation, thus before the credit is granted. In order to follow the law, they demand to 
the borrower annual financial statements. Through these financial data, banks evaluate if the 
borrower will have sufficient future cash flows to cover debt. The Banking Business Act (SFS 
1987: 617) states that:  
 
“Loans may only be granted provided there is due cause to believe the borrower will fulfil the 
loan obligation. In addition, satisfactory security is required in real property or personal 
property or in the form of guarantee. The bank may waive such security, however, when such 
is deemed unnecessary or where there are specific reasons to waive the requirement for such 
security.” 
 
Despite that, the law does not regulate the content and depth of a credit assessment. Banks 
have the responsibility when it comes to the evaluation and estimation of the risk linked to the 
borrower’s default to accomplish the credit obligation. Since the lending officer is in contact 
with the customer, it is his/her job to do this research. In many cases the lending officer will 
be authorised to approve credit applications up to a certain amount. 43 
 
Lending is the primary driver of banks profitability but is also related with risks. Moreover, 
the lending to SMEs is more risky compared to granting big companies. Banks are therefore 
becoming more cautious when it comes to lending SMEs.44 Lately, SMEs had constituted an 
important costumer of banks and are becoming therefore a more attractive counterpart for 
banks when it comes to credit financing. During the last decades, many innovations in the 
field of financing have involved, reducing the market for traditional bank products, thereby a 
decreased in the traditional bank loans. In our days, most of larger companies are using non-
banks sources of financing, for example private placements and corporate bonds. However, 
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this kind of financing is not only limited but also expensive for SMEs that are forced to 
remain in the traditional bank loans. This situation creates a high dependence of SMEs on 
banks, leading to a weak bargaining position when applying for a credit. All these factors 
affect the decision making of banks when it comes to grant a credit to SMEs because it leads 
to a cautious and particular consideration.45 It is therefore important for SMEs to understand 
all aspects about this particular treatment that they may face. This will improve their credit 
possibilities and understanding of how their credit granting is handled by banks.  
 
When companies apply for a loan they have to pass through two decision factors that 
influence the application of a credit. The first step consists of the lending officer who had to 
make an initial decision whether to support a loan application. The second step is the 
evaluation of the applying company.46  
 
4.2.3 What is risk? 
Risk is one of the main factors that banks look at during a credit assessment process. Since 
banks have to evaluate if a SME has the ability to repay the loan and the interest rates, it is 
obvious that banks have to assess all the risks related to the loan application. We found that it 
is essential for our thesis to know and understand what kind of risks that banks take into 
consideration during credit assessment process.  
 
Risk can be defined as the volatility of unexpected outcomes caused by either positive or 
negative movements in financial variables. Today, companies face various types of risks, 
which in many cases create substantial financial losses. These risks can be classified as 
business risks or nonbusiness risks. The nonbusiness risks can be described as risks that the 
company have no control over such us the strategic risks that result from economical or 
political changes like nationalization. Business risks are risks that the company willingly 
assumes to create a competitive advantage and increase value for shareholders. When 
companies are applying for loans, it is vital for banks to anticipate the risk of these 
companies. Due to the fact that banks will have to deal with the future payments, which in 
fact are the main business of banks, it becomes very important for banks to analyse if the 
companies will be able to pay back. Recently, there have been many factors that have caused 
and influenced research in risk issues such us structural increase in bankruptcies, technology, 
more competitive margins and declining, volatile values of collateral, the growth of off-
balance-sheet derivates and disintermediation. Thus, today companies are facing several and 
diverse risks. Financial risks have risen lately due to several events that had occurred in the 
last decades. Some of these events are for instance the breakdown of the fixed exchange rate 
system in 1971 that lead to flexibility and fluctuation/volatility in the exchange rate, the oil-
price chocks during 1970s, which caused higher inflation and changes in the interest rates and 
prices and finally the Russian default in August 1998. Moreover, the deregulation of financial 
markets pushed financial institutions to become more competitive and face thereby various 
risks. In addition to that, globalisation that came to reduce the barriers to international trade 
and investments also increased this competition leading markets in a more financial risk 
environment. Markets had and still experience unpredictable events and changes, which in 
many cases create important financial losses. Consequently, several companies had adopted a 
risk-management strategy in order to face, manage and control these financial risks. Risk-
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management is the process used by companies in order to identify, measure and control 
various risks facing companies. 47 
 
a) Types of financial risks 
Financial risks can be classified as a business risk, where risks are related to possible losses in 
financial markets, such as losses due to interest rate movements or defaults on financial 
obligations. There are many types of financial risks:48 credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, 
operational risk and legal risk. Each of these risks has different origins, which is analysed and 
measured differently.49 However, it is considered that credit risk, market risk and operational 
risk are the main types of risks that a company have to study in order to be able to determine 
the overall risk. Since we are discussing about the credit assessment of a company, we chose 
to focus on the credit risk.  
 
- Credit risk 
Credit risk originates from the fact that counter parties may be unwilling or incapable to 
accomplish their contractual obligations. It is the most important factor to consider during the 
credit grating process for companies. Therefore, it is important and necessary for banks to 
determine and evaluate the credit risk of the company applying for a loan.50  
 
The credit risk deals with the probability of default of the borrower compared to other types 
of financial risks. This makes it the major factor for the credit grating process. Through 
financial information that borrowers provide when they apply for loans, the banks can 
evaluate and analyse the risk and thereby the probability of future payment. However, this 
does not exclude the evaluation of other risks as they are also playing a major role but not 
specially in responding our research.51  
 
There are several factors that play a major role in the credit assessment process. Companies 
should understand and determine these factors when evaluating and dealing with credit risk. 
This will help to evaluate the probability that a credit process may fail.52 

- Probability of default (PD): can be defined as the likelihood that the borrower will not 
be able to pay back his/her debts.  

- Loss given default (LGD): is defined as the partial loss due to the default. For instance 
when a company defaults but can recover 30%, the LGD will then be 70% 

- Exposure at default (EAD): defined as the economic value of the creditors claim on 
the debtor at the time of default. 

- Maturity (M): is the effective contractual maturity of bank’s exposures. 
 
 
4.3 Part II:  Credit assessment, risk evaluation and social network 
Part II contains the main theories that developed the keys factors, which mostly affect banks 
during credit assessment processes. We chose these theories since they contain the keys 
factors that banks take into consideration when a company apply for a loan. The part begins 
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with a general credit assessment model used by banks. Others theories are developed since 
they contain others specific factors that we found necessary for the purpose of our goal. The 
traditional risk evaluation is interesting in the way that it depends mostly on the expertise of 
the bank’s employees and is still used by banks in the credit evaluation. There are also newer 
approaches such as the credit scoring which is becoming more interesting in nowadays 
especially when it comes to small credit volumes. Finally, there is the theory of social 
network, which also plays a major role in social interactions. We found that this theory is 
significant for our thesis since social networks have always affected people in some extent.  
 
4.3.1 The credit assessment Model 
The credit assessment model consists of three theoretical categories: risk assessment, risk 
alignment and risk shifting. This model links these three categories to eight characteristics 
that influence the borrower’s risk of default.  On one hand, the three categories are factors 
used by banks in order to deal with the risks of lending money to SMEs. On the other hand, 
the eight characteristics of the borrowing SMEs affect the probability of success for a 
company and thus the probability that the company will success when requesting for a loan. 
These eight characteristics are: risk-taking proclivity, competence within the business project, 
CEO tenure, strategic planning, past performance, share of investment, financial standing and 
collateral. They are assumed to have an impact on the lending officer’s decision making and 
are important for the result of a credit assessment. Studies also show that these factors are 
exhaustive in describing lending officers’ assessment of growing SMEs. Each factor is 
represented in one of the three categories.  Moreover, the model shows that there is an 
interaction between the factors represented in the risk-alignment category and risk- shifting 
category and the risk-taking proclivity of the SMEs during a credit assessment. Therefore the 
model is used to examine what factors affect the lending officer’s decision making for a 
company’s loan application. 53 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 2: How characteristics of borrowing SMEs affect credit assessment 
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Figure 2 shows how the theoretical model is presented. Each category and each characteristic 
is developed in order to help the reader to understand the model and why and how these 
factors are linked.   
 
a) Factors affecting a company’s creditworthiness   
As mentioned before, there are eight major characteristics that affect the probability of 
success for an enterprise and consequently the probability that the enterprise will success in 
the credit application. The lending officer will highly take in consideration these factors when 
evaluating the creditworthiness of borrowers. Those factors are: 
 

 The general risk-taking proclivity of the firm: is one of the most important factors that 
influence the willingness of banks during credit assessment. Some companies are 
extreme risk-takers, whereas others are conservative and risk-averse. For a bank it is 
therefore substantial to evaluate the credit risk of the lending company because the 
risk level of the company has an important effect on the probability of loan repayment. 
The lending officer has to be sure that the company will not increase its risk-taking 
proclivity during the whole credit period. Thus the survivor of the company depends 
on its risk level.54 

 
 The competence within the business project: this factor is related to the ability of the 

enterprise to operate the new project successfully. The quality of the human capital 
plays an important role in the conducting of a business as it influences the likelihood 
that the business will be improve and be successful.55Researches argue that the 
capacity for a firm to success during a project can be evaluated through financial 
statements or management’s experience.56 

 
 The Chief Executive Officer’s (CEO) personal experience: studies show that the 

human capital of the company is directly connected to the qualities of the CEO. Poor 
management has been seen as the main cause of a business failure. Consequently, the 
lending officer will highly evaluate the management of the operation of the business.57 

 
 The extent of strategic planning: When evaluating the creditworthiness of a SME, the 

lending office has to take into consideration if the firm is aware and has the ability and 
capacity to respond to changing conditions. Moreover the strategic plan of the 
enterprise provides an indication of its future performance.58  

 
 The past performance of a firm: this factor plays an important role since it indicates 

the ability of the firm to repay the credit. The past financial performance of a company 
can provide an indication of future forecast and success. Moreover, it indicates if the 
enterprise has succeeded in the past, presenting thereby tangible indicators of the 
company’s competence. These indicators of the past performance are calculated, based 
on the accounting information. The lending officer is therefore influenced by these 
facts.59 
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 The share of investment for the firm: The owner’s share or that of the SME for 
financing the business project is also another factor that influenced the lending officer. 
If management and ownership are combined, the owner-manager has both financial 
and human capital at risk in the enterprise. Consequently, he/she will provide 
substantial cash investment ensuring actions in the investor’s interest. Consequently, 
the share of investment from the SME influences the creditworthiness of a company.60   

 
 The financial standing: the financial standing of a company influences the lending 

officer because it provides the ability of the enterprise to repay the loan, regardless of 
the performance of the project. Based on financial accounting information of a 
company, key factors that measure profitability, liquidity and solvency are shown as 
the major significant factors that indicate the probability that the company will 
survive. The financial standing of a company mostly indicates if whether or not the 
borrower is able to repay the loan, regardless of the outcome and the performance of 
the project.61   

 
 The level of collateral: This factor represents a secondary source of repayment in case 

the borrower will default to repay credit. It is a way of protection against defaulting 
borrowers.  This will also influence the creditworthiness of a company.62 

 
b) Risk assessment 
The expected return of banks depends on the probability of repayment.63  Thus banks try to 
attract customers who have a low risk since they are more likely to pay the interest rate and 
principal. Consequently, banks collect and analyse the information about the company 
requesting for a loan in order to estimate the credit risk. It is therefore crucial for the bank to 
estimate the real risk connected to the borrower’s incapacity or unwillingness to fulfil the 
credit obligation, meaning the repayment of the credit and the payment of the interest rate. 64  
 
In order to evaluate and measure the risk associated to a borrower default; banks have 
developed measures and models so that they can protect themselves against losses. Based on 
the information provided by the borrower, banks evaluate the probability that the borrower 
will failure to pay the credit and the interest rate. This information is mostly linked with these 
five characteristics of the borrower: risk-taking proclivity, competence within the business 
project, CEO tenure, strategic planning and past performance. 65  
 
When SMEs apply for loans, lending officers uses the informational factors in order to 
classify credit applications into two different groups SMEs that are expected to fulfil the 
credit obligation and those that are not. However, the evaluation of the risk linked to the 
borrower’ default does not eliminate the risk of a default’s possibility. Consequently, banks 
are still exposed to a certain level of risk in their credit business since banks cannot be sure 
that they are providing credits to the borrowers that are not supposed to default on the credit. 
Once using the process risk assessment, it is expected that the probability of default might be 
decreased. Finally, the process risk assessment is supposed to limit risk exposures.  
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c) Alignment of risk-bearing 
Credit risk can be limited by aligning the interest of the borrower and the bank. Consequently, 
this will limit the borrower’s downside loss and will provide an indication that the borrower is 
committed to the project but also believe in the project’s success. Alignment of risk-bearing is 
linked with one of the eight characteristics, the SME share and investment. By using the share 
of investment made by the borrower, the bank can limit its risk exposure through the 
alignment of the risk-bearing function between the borrower and the lender.66 The attempt to 
achieve alignment between the goals of the borrower SME and the bank induce the borrower 
to act in manner that is also in the best of the bank. Consequently, the bank looks for signals 
that show that the SME is taking actions consistent with the best interest of the bank because a 
project failure would also expose the borrower to a disadvantage when goals between the 
borrower and the lender are aligned. Additionally, the alignment of risk-bearing provides a 
measure of comfort; it makes sure that the borrower is dedicated to the project for which the 
credit is sought. Furthermore, the borrower is supposed to be more motivated to resolve 
severe issues that can occur during the conducting of the project since both the borrower and 
the bank are exposed to risk if the project defaults. If the bank wants to align the risk-bearing 
of lender and borrower, it can require that the borrower make a part of the investment.67 This 
will then provide an indication that the company is operating in a reliable way with the best 
interest of the bank since the borrower would also be exposed to personal losses in case of the 
project will fail.68     
 
d) Shifting of risk-bearing 
This approach is used when banks want to ensure if the credit will be repaid with means other 
than investments returns. Banks can limit their risk exposure by shifting part of the risk to the 
borrower. The company applying for a loan and the collateral offered by this customer may 
serve as an instrument that limits the risk exposure of the bank. This approach is linked to two 
characteristics of the borrower SME: the financial standing and collateral. These instruments 
limit the lender’s downside loss since it shifts part of the risk to the borrower. Additionally, it 
serves as a signal that the borrower is persuaded about the project’ success since this customer 
guarantees to repay the bank loan from sources that do not depend on the project outcome.  
Furthermore, the approach indicates the ability of the borrower to repay the loan despite of the 
forecast of the project. On one hand, shifting part of the risk to the borrower exposes the 
borrower to higher risk with the investments and on the other hand it limits the risk of the 
banks. If the project defaults, the borrower might lose the assets used to collateralise the 
credit. It assumed therefore that shifting of risk-bearing affects the lending officer during the 
credit assessment.69   
 
e) Risk-taking proclivity  
The risk-taking proclivity is a crucial factor when lending officers evaluate the 
creditworthiness of a SME. For a SME investing in a growth project, a certain amount of risks 
still remain and difficult to avoid. It becomes important for banks to consider selected factors 
that are in combination with an SME risk-taking proclivity. The bank should therefore 
consider and analyse the inter-relationship between various factors and combine them with 
the SME risk-taking proclivity.  As mentioned before, banks prefer to invest in projects with 
low-risk. Still, if the bank is sure that the loan will be repaid independently from the project 
outcome, risk-taking becomes less of a concern. It is therefore expected that the risk-taking 
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proclivity of the customer and factors related to the chances of the bank to be repaid 
regardless of the outcome of the project should interact.  
  
The share of investment made by the borrower, the financial standing of the borrower and the 
collateral that the borrower offers may probably influence the relationship between screening 
criteria and the possibility that the borrower will obtain a loan. In other words, during a credit 
evaluation, the lending officer might accept a higher SME risk-taking proclivity if it is 
combined with other positive indications, mostly if these signals reduce the credit risk for the 
bank.   
 
4.3.2 The Five Cs-expert System: A Traditional Risk Evaluation  
One of the traditional risk evaluations is constituted by the five CS-expert systems and is a 
type of credit risk assessment. The Five Cs-expert systems depend mostly on the expertise of 
the bank’s employees. These employees have to evaluate different factors that can affect the 
lending of a credit.  In addition, they have to decide what interest rate would be profitable for 
the bank and decide whether a credit can be granted or not. The model is mainly based on the 
bank’s employees and that is why it is called the expert system. Expert systems have 
established several key factors which have to be considered during the credit risk assessment 
but the most common is “the five Cs” which contains five factors:70 

1. The customer’s character 
2. The customer’s capacity to pay 
3. The customer’s capital 
4. The collateral provided by the customer 
5. The condition of the customer’s business 

 
The analysis of some of these factors is based on financial data and can therefore be objective 
whereas others can be more subjective and intangible.  By analysing the customer’s character, 
the credit officer looks at the reputation of the potential client and its payment behaviour. 
While the payment behaviour can be analysed on the based of financial data, the reputation on 
the other hand can hardly be calculated objectively. Thus, the expert systems are based on 
individual evaluation. Despite the five Cs, there are other expert systems that banks have 
developed to determine a risk and evaluate a company. Some institutions orientate on the five 
Cs, add some factors or remove some issues. However, there are other banks that have 
developed a new and individual approach, which cannot be compared to the five Cs model. 71  
 
4.3.3 Credit Scoring: A New Approach to Risk Assessment 
The credit scoring models is one of the new approaches to risk assessment. It provides an 
objective approach where a number of key factors are evaluated, weighted and put together 
into one quantitative score. These key factors are determinants for the credit risk. In this 
model, the weighted factors are set before and the risk factors are quite objective leading to 
the fact that the results of the credit scoring system can be compared without difficulty.72  
 
In the beginning the credit scoring systems were used predominantly for retail credits and 
smaller loans. Currently, the interest of using this approach has extended also to greater 
credits. Credit scoring is mostly apply in the risk evaluation and is particularly used in ratings. 
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Using the traditional way is not anymore profitable for banks when assessing all loan 
applications, particularly when SMEs are applying for small credit volumes.73 It usually takes 
more time to lend to SMEs and therefore expensive. This because SME portfolios are larger if 
one compares them to those of large corporations.74   However, credit scoring models can help 
to reduce the costs and also the time of credit assessment by automating credit decisions.  
However, one can argue if the applications of the credit scoring models have only positive 
impacts on SMEs. 75   
 
4.3.4 Social network theory 
Social networks are based on trust for the actors who give the information. This information 
facilitates business decision-making but also provides business opportunities for both 
partners. Organisation analysis has shown that social networks are important instrument for 
business purposes. The decision-making in companies depends on a large extend on 
environmental variables outside the direct control of the organisation.  As bank products are 
generally intangible, social networks between banks/financial institutions and the customers 
become fundamental aspects. Interaction between these partners revolves around the 
generation of trust that can be transmitted directly or indirectly between partners through 
intermediaries found in the environmental social network. The number of actors in social 
network is important due to the fact that social networks tend to become less useful when 
there are too many actors involved, since this makes it more difficult to get an overview of the 
network. Moreover, the strength of the ties between actors is also important, as the ties that 
are too weak tend to decrease the meaningfulness of using the relationship for business 
purposes. However, ties that are too strong may also be harmful as those that are too weak.76 

4.4 Summary of the theoretical framework: part I & II 
With this section, we intend to summarise the whole theoretical framework in order to 
facilitate the transition to the empirical section and to make it more logical. Based on the 
theoretical framework, we guide the interview that provides us with the empirical data needed 
for our research. 
 
There are many reasons why SMEs are in need of loans for instance the financing of new 
projects. In lack of self-financing, companies tend to turn to banks, and banks loans seem to 
be an appropriate way for SMEs compared to others types of financing that are too expensive. 
 
Swedish banks can fulfil a company’s loan application by using private and institutional 
customer’s deposits or their shareholder’s equity. Two steps influence the application of a 
loan, the lending officer who has to initially decide on the creditworthiness and the evaluation 
of the applying company. 
 
Today companies face various types of risks, which in many cases lead to significant financial 
losses.  Credit risk originates from the fact that counter parties may be unwilling or incapable 
to accomplish their contractual obligations. It is crucial for banks to anticipate the risk of the 
applying company in order to make sure that this company will be able to repay the credit and 
interest rates.  
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The credit assessment model is composed by three categories: risk assessment, risk alignment 
and risk shifting which are used by banks in order to deal with the risks of lending money to 
SMEs. The model links these three factors to eight characteristics of the borrower: risk-taking 
proclivity, competence within the business project, CEO tenure, strategic planning, past 
performance, share of investment, financial standing and collateral which influence the 
borrower’s risk of default when requesting for a loan. The model is used to examine what 
factors affect the lending officer’s decision making for a company’s loan application.  
 
The traditional risk evaluation developed in this thesis is the five Cs-expert systems that 
depend mostly on the expertise of the bank’s employees. The bank officers evaluate different 
factors that can affect the lending of a loan. The model has established the main factors that 
the bank officers have to take into consideration during a credit risk assessment: the 
customer’s character, the customer’s capacity to pay, the customer’s capital, the collateral 
provided by the customer and the condition of the customer’s business. We found that most of 
these factors are included in the credit assessment model. The analysis of some of these 
factors as well as those in the credit assessment is based on the financial data, which becomes 
even more interesting for our topic since our purpose is to study on which extent financial 
statements affect credit granting for SMEs. Some of the factors may also be more subjective 
but still interesting for the whole topic. The credit scoring model is a new approach to risk 
assessment and has become more profitable for banks when assessing SMEs’ loan 
applications. The model can help to reduce the costs and also the time of credit assessment by 
automating credit decisions.     
 
Finally, the social network theory focuses on the trust for the actors who give the information. 
The theory emphasize that social network facilitates business decision-making but also 
provides business opportunities for both partners.  
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5. Practical Method 
The chapter presents information about the practical method that is the basis of our empirical 
studies. This part contains a description and discussion of how we selected, accessed and 
chose companies and respondents. We then present our interview process and discuss the 
credibility criteria through criticism.   
   
5.1 Choice of companies and Respondents 
The main purpose of our thesis is to study how banks use financial reports and accounts 
during SMEs’ loan granting. Our underlying purpose is to provide possible suggestions to 
SMEs in order to help them to make their loan applications more successful. Since it is mainly 
up to banks to decide which company will or will not receive a loan, we think that it is 
relevant to conduct interviews with banks. Therefore we decided to conduct interviews with 
lending officers dealing with SMEs’ loan application in Swedish banks. We believe that 
banks will sufficiently and correctly answer our questions and permit us to reach our goal. We 
think that conducting interviews with SMEs will be unnecessary since it is up to bank officers 
to decide on a company’s creditworthiness.  
 
In order to choose which of the financial institutions to interview, we first of all studied the 
Swedish financial market. Several banks cover the Swedish financial market but we chose to 
interview the major ones. There are four major banks that cover 80% of the Swedish market 
when it comes to lending companies. These major banks are Swedbank, Handelsbanken, 
Nordea and SEB.77 We then made contact with these four major banks and requested for 
interviews.  
 
The next step was to select our respondents. We believe that the appropriate respondents for 
our questions would be the banks officers who deal with credit assessment for SMEs. 
Therefore we decided to conduct interviews with them. We decided to make contact 
personally since we wanted to be sure that the chosen persons are the right respondents. 
During the first visit we talked to the receptionist and explain the purpose of our visit and 
what kind of banks officers we were searching for. These bank employees guide us to bank 
officers who they assumed to be appropriated for our topic. From each bank, we either 
received a visit card from the bank officer who accepted to be interviewed or a telephone 
number and a name of the appropriate person who was not available at the first visit. 
 
During the first contact with Swedbank we were able to present ourselves. We talk briefly 
about our research and requested for an interview with lending officers dealing with SMEs’ 
loan applications. Unfortunately, we were unable to have a personal initial contact with our 
intended persons for other banks, since they were not available. We then made the first 
contact with them via telephone.   
 
We think that this way of selecting and choosing suitable respondents was appropriate. We 
selected carefully our respondents by asking and being sure that they were the appropriate 
ones. Furthermore, we offered a general idea about the substance of our interviews and the 
way the interviews will be conducted. Finally, we send emails to our intended respondents in 
order to remind them about the later meeting and the purpose of our visit. We are sure that by 
doing so we avoided misunderstandings for the whole interview process.  
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Unfortunately, the contact with Nordea did not give any positive result as we expected. Even 
though we managed to get contact with the bank officials, we were not able to get an 
appointment to conduct an interview with them. Firstly, it took so much time to get in touch 
with credit officers in the bank. Secondly we were not able to compromise on a suitable day 
to conduct the interviews since they were not available for the time that was convenient to us.    
 
5.2 Access 
As already mentioned, we made the first contact by visiting our chosen banks and 
respondents. For the respondents who were not available, we contacted them via telephone. 
We lately send an email to all respondents where we firstly thank them for their participation 
and contribution to our study. We explained again but briefly the purpose of our topic. Finally 
we gave them a general idea and the relevant questions about the interview. We think that this 
was an important step because it gives to respondents’ time to see if he or she is the right 
person to our questions and even have a general idea about what we will be talking about.  
 
Our time horizons for the whole interview were approximately between 50min and 60 min. 
We thought that this would give enough time to the respondent to answer and to us to get the 
information that we needed. We asked our respondents what time will be favourable for them 
so that they can feel comfortable and without feeling pressure during the interviews. We let 
our respondents decide all appointments. We also asked our respondents where they prefer to 
conduct the interview and the working place was the one chosen. We believe that this way of 
working helped us to make our respondents more and more comfortable and without making a 
lot of effort.  
 
Before conducting the interview, we made a personal contact with two of the respondents. 
Though our first little and pleasant conversation, we think that we gave a positive impression.   
This we believe was benefit for the outcome of the interview. We are aware that the way of 
acting during the first few minutes of the conversation has significant impact on the outcome 
of the interview.78 We think that the interview with these respondents was conducted in a 
relaxing environment. We even discuss about general subject but mostly about the banking 
activities and organisation after the interview. However, the interview conducted with the 
other two respondents that were contacted via telephone went also as we planned and we 
believe that we got the information that we were searching for.  
 
Firstly, we introduced ourselves shortly and gave the main purpose of our study. Secondly, we 
thank our respondents for the participation and the contribution into our topic. Thirdly, we 
asked our respondents in which language they would be more comfortable to answer. They 
chose to answer in Swedish and we thereby conducted the whole interview in Swedish. They 
also agreed that we could ask the questions in English as our questions were already in 
English. Furthermore, we mentioned and reassured the respondents about the confidential 
treatment of the given information. We guaranteed to present the given answers as 
anonymous. However, the respondents agreed that we present them personally in the 
presentation of the respondents and in the references. We also asked if we could record the 
whole interview, and the respondents agreed. In addition, we offered to send our final results, 
which will be in English before finalizing our study. This was to avoid some 
misunderstandings due to the language or the translation. We believe that this way of 
conducting will secure the respondents to give more and useful information without fearing 
for the consequences of the give information. We also wanted to avoid some prejudices from 
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the readers who might be a customer or want to become one of the bank’s customers. 
However, we received out of recording, some more and useful information. One of the 
respondents was more comfortable and confident to say more and answered honestly to two 
of our main questions. 
  
To begin with, we asked the interviewees to introduce themselves shortly, give their position, 
role and experience in the credit assessment within the bank. We then asked the formal 
questions of our study. When the respondents did not understand clearly the meaning of the 
question, we gave additional explanations until he/she understood. We did not receive 
answers to all questions because some of them were considered as confidential. We respected 
the respondent’s refusal to answer some of our questions. We are aware of the confidentiality 
in banking. 79  
 
We are certain that our interviews were conducted in a comfortable and friendly environment. 
We are convinced that we received a high quality of answers.   
 
5.3 Interview 
In this part, we discuss how we conducted and structured our interviews. Furthermore, we 
talk about how we dealt with the data from the interviews.  
 
5.3.1 Procedure 
As already mentioned, it is very critical for our topic to get suitable respondents for our 
interviews. Thus our main approach and plan was to get information about suitable 
interviewees and then select those who are appropriate for our research. We also chose to use 
a face-to-face interview. From the beginning we wanted that our empirical part would be 
made by personal interviews in order to get more information. The interviewees are able to 
give further information and explain clearly if necessary. We also wanted to get clear and 
relevant answers therefore we wanted to be in case some questions could not be clear or in 
case there would be some misunderstandings. We think that by using this method we 
prevented and avoided misunderstandings that could occur by using other research methods, 
for instance telephone interviews. In addition, we received useful and important information 
in the end of one of the interviews. This was after the formal questions and the recording 
session. The respondent preferred to give this information in an informal way his/her office. 
Another positive aspect with face-to-face interview is that the research can follow the 
interviewee’s gesture and interpretation that might be completed or supported by using 
additional documents. 80 
 
5.3.2 Structure 
The structure of our interview is a semi-structured interview (see appendix). In qualitative 
studies, these types of interviews are used in order to conduct discussion on a complex and 
sophisticated basis.81 We chose this method because it is appropriate for our research since we 
chose to conduct a qualitative study. Our interviews were formulated based on an interview 
guideline. We tried to cover the main topics and as the reader will notice in our interview 
guideline we asked several questions that covered many specific themes based on the 
theoretical framework. We used the semi-structured method for all our respondents by 
following almost the outlined of the questions. We were also asking additional questions in 
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between the formal questions based on what the interviewee responded. We asked the same 
questions, the formal ones, to the interviewees; but some of them were exposed to more 
additional questions based on what information and answers they were giving.  
 
We can define the nature of our questions as open but some of them can also be defined as 
specific questions.  Most of our questions were more open and therefore our respondents were 
able to respond by giving more information. Open questions encourage the respondents to 
give wide, deep and thoughtful answers but also to illuminate some statements and fact.82 
This method allows the researcher to receive more, useful and important information. After 
our first respondent, we receive additional information that guides us in new insight that we 
did not have before. We found ourselves asking additional questions to the following 
interviewees. We were aware that in order to success in our interviews and get more 
information we had to avoid interrupting our respondents. We think that our interviews were 
successful.  
 
5.3.3 Processing of Primary sources 
All the conducted interviews were recorded with the permission of our respondents. We 
wanted to avoid missing any useful information. During the interviews we were asking the 
questions one by one and taking some notes when needed in order to ask additional questions 
that were not included in our formal questions. The main advantage with recording the 
interviews is that we have the opportunity to re-listen to the whole interview.  
 
The recording session did not disturb most of the interviewees and as we can tell they were 
comfortable when answering to our questions. At the end of the interview, we noticed that one 
of the interviewees was not comfortable with the recording session. This particular 
interviewee gave us more and useful information to some of our questions out off the 
recording session. It took us two days to conduct the interviews. We began with bank officers 
in Swedbank and Handelsbanken, one in the morning and the other one in the afternoon the 
same day. The last interview with SEB was done the next day. We think that the time between 
the interviews was an advantage as it provided us with enough time to rest a little bit, prepare 
ourselves and be relax for the next interview. Moreover, it helped us even improve the way of 
conducting these interviews.  
 
The next day after all interviews, we listen and write down the whole interviews in order to 
avoid some misunderstandings while the whole picture and conversation was still fresh in our 
memory. As we promised to our respondents, we sent the written interview to them and gave 
the respondents the opportunity to see if we did not misunderstood their answers due to the 
translation or other language bias. Additionally, we wanted our respondents the opportunity 
and possibility to correct their statements if necessary.  One of the respondents took this 
opportunity and made some small changes. Then, we began to work on the empirical section.   
 
5.4 Criticism  
In this section we discuss some of the main criticism that we think are important to be aware 
of. We talk about the self-criticism and the criticism of method and sources.  
 
5.4.1 Self- criticism 
The first self-criticism about our own procedure is the feasibility. We chose to study only 
banks and financial institutions operating here in Umeå. Because of the size of the town, we 
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have a small population and it would lead to some complications in case some of the four 
chosen banks deny our request to be involved in the study. However as we explained before, 
time and financial means reduce our abilities to extend the population to some other regions.  
 
5.4.2 Criticism of Method and Sources 
Some writers consider qualitative researches to be too subjective due to the fact that 
qualitative findings rely strongly on the researcher’s views. By this, they mean that the 
researcher’s view depends on what is seems to be significant, useful and important. We tried 
in the whole process to select and chose what aspects and factors will be relevant and 
important when studying our research.  As already mentioned, we chose to conduct a 
qualitative research. We conducted face-to-face interviews where a semi-structured interview 
guideline was used and the interviews were recorded. This approach allows to give and get 
additional explanations when needed and to avoid some misunderstandings. One can 
understand also that the respondents have the opportunity to extend their answers and give 
further information or explain more and clearly.  We think that this way was the best one to 
receive clearly, more and useful information needed for our topic. The recorded interviews 
were in a good quality; we could hear clearly all the given answers. The respondents were in 
generally comfortable during the whole process. Still, as we notice, one of the respondents 
was not comfortable to answer to some questions although the interviewee accepted to be 
recorded. We could maybe have furthermore and sincere answers to some of the questions if 
the interview was not recorded for this particular interviewee. We did not know that for this 
particular respondent the recording would affect the interviewee. This respondent agreed to be 
recorded without any reservation and hesitation. Nevertheless, this problem was reduced at 
the end of the interview since this interviewee gave us useful information to those questions 
that he/she thought were not sincerely answered.  
 
During our work, we faced difficulties of getting some important books. We were obliged to 
wait for some books, which took us a lot of time. The persons who were in possession of 
these books did not give them back in time or either the books were too expensive for us to 
buy. We were asked to wait for long time and this happened in the beginning of our work, 
especially in the method and the theory part.  
 
5.5 Credibility Criteria 
By credibility, we mean how believable the findings are. “The establishment of the credibility 
of findings entails both ensuring that research is carried out according to the canons of good 
practice and submitting research findings to the members of the social world who were 
studied for confirmation that the investigator has correctly understood that social world”83 
There are many credibility criteria while conducting a qualitative research. But, in this thesis 
we choose to fulfil two of them: transferability, language bias and practical applicability. 
 
5.5.1 Practical applicability 
As discussed before, the main goal with our study is to illuminate and find more information 
about the relationship between the financial information and the lending process for the 
SMEs. In other words, the information presented in this thesis can be very useful for SMEs 
when they are preparing their loan/credit application to the banks. This information is from 
bank professionals who work every day with SMEs lending. They know very well which 
criteria a good loan/credit application must fulfil. Moreover, they can give good 
recommendations and information about how to make SMEs loan/credit application more 
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effective and successful. Finally, our respondents are working in those leading lending banks 
operating in whole Sweden.  
 
During our study, we focused on what this thesis can provide as contribution to all the readers 
who may be interested in getting more information about this field and are also in need of it. 
We found that SMEs can be the most targeted group since they deal in their activities with 
bank lending. We know how important bank lending can be for a company’s survival and 
other operations therefore we think that our study will definitely be useful for SMEs. The 
results and recommendations from this bachelor thesis can be used by SMEs as a model and a 
guideline during the preparation of their loan/credit application. We think that the readers will 
find this study interesting, informative and useful. 
 
5.5.2 Language bias 
As foreign students, we are aware of our limited language skills in Swedish, which can lead to 
some misunderstandings. However, we believe that we have enough skills to understand 
without any doubt the answers we got from our respondents.  Furthermore, all our 
respondents have Swedish as their mother tongue therefore we gave them the opportunity to 
respond in their mother tongues. We decided to send to the respondents the interview 
questions some days before so that they can prepare themselves and feel familiar and 
comfortable with the topic. By this, we believe that misunderstandings due to language have 
been then avoided or at least limited. We have also ourselves a limited knowledge in English 
since it is not our mother tongue. However, we did our best while translating and writing the 
empirical data.  
 
5.5.3 Reliability 
As mentioned before, all interviews were recorded on a tape. After the interviews, we wrote 
them down and sent to the respondent in order to allow them to make eventual corrections and 
modifications. One of the respondents sent us a feedback where she wanted to make some 
minor changes. The rest of respondents did not modify anything and agreed with our 
interview transcriptions. By doing this, we achieved the reliability criteria as stand by Bryman 
and Bell. According to these authors, reliability can be achieved by allowing the respondents 
to correct all misunderstandings that might occur during the transcription of a recorded 
interview.84 
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6. Presentation of Companies and Respondents 
In this chapter we present briefly the three banks where the interviews will be conducted. 
Moreover, we present the four respondents who accepted to contribute and participate in the 
research. The purpose with this chapter is to give to the readers an overview of whom and 
which banks were chosen to be included in our study. 
  
6.1 Presentation of Banks 
6.1.1 Swedbank 
Former Föreningssparbanken until autumn 2006, Swedbank has founded in 1820 as the first 
Swedish savings bank in Gothenburg. It is one of the leading banks in Sweden, Estonia, 
Latvia and Lithuania. Swedbank also operates in Denmark, Finland, Norway, Western Russia, 
Luxembourg, US, China and Japan. The bank has a large number of customers in small and 
medium sized businesses. The number of small and medium sized businesses in Sweden is 
evaluated to about 252 000 and in the Baltic Sea countries this number is evaluated to about 
187 000. Swedbank has total assets valued to SEK 1 274 milliards and a total lending of SEK 
852 billions with a number of 16 000 employees and 750 offices in Sweden and more 290 
offices in the Baltic Sea countries. In Sweden the bank has a market share of almost 20% in 
the corporate loan section. 85  
 
6.1.2 Handelsbanken 
Handelsbanken has been founded in 1871 in Stockholm by a group of successful companies 
and businessmen. First called Stockholm Handelsbanken, it expanded between 1910 and 1919 
and became Swedish Handelsbanken. The bank offers a complete range of financial products 
and services and has a strong market position in Sweden with 456 local offices. During these 
last 15 years, Handelsbanken has built a strong position in other Nordic countries with 41 
local offices in Norway, 36 in Finland and 37 in Denmark. Moreover the bank has established 
since 200 even in England where it has 25 local offices. However, its main market is in 
Sweden where it plays a big role on the corporate lending field. The bank is the biggest actor 
on the Swedish corporate lending market with a market share up to 30 %. Handelsbanken 
annual balance sheet total assets employed is SEK 1.764 billions with a total lending to the 
general public, which is up to SEK 1.076 billions.86  
 
6.1.3 SEB 
The entrepreneur and visionary Andre Oscar Wallenberg under the name of Stockholms 
Enskilda Bank have founded SEB for 150 years ago. The SEB group is now a North European 
financial group for 400.000 corporate customers and institutions, and 5 millions private 
customers. The bank is now operating and located in the Nordic and Baltic countries, 
Germany, Poland, Ukraine and Russia. It represented in some 20 countries all over the world 
and employs around 20.000 persons. Approximately half of SEB’s customers use the Internet 
for their banking transactions. On 30 June 2006, the Group’s total assets amounted to SEK 
1,986billions while its assets under management totalled SEK 1,086billions.87 
 
6.2 Presentation of Respondents 
We present here the four lending officers with who we conducted interviews. We find it 
important for the reader to know who our respondents are and what they work with in their 
respective banks. However, their really names will be disguised and fictitious in our empirical 
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and analysis part in order to keep both their personal and professional integrity. We want also 
to present our results without any association to the bank officers’ real names. 
 
6.2.1 Jan Nylfäter, Swedbank – Umeå 
The interview has been conducted face-to-face and recorded on Monday, January 15th, 
between 10:00 until 11.05.  
 
Jan Nylfäter is responsible for the credit and lending department for medium-sized and big 
companies at Swedbank local office in Umeå. He is on the top of a team of 16 persons dealing 
with credits and loans for medium-sized and big companies. Jan has been working in this 
position and in Swedbank for one year. Before his job at Swedbank, he worked in a 
consulting company with management issues for more than 15 years.   
  
6.2.2 Helena Nordberg, Swedbank – Umeå 
The interview has been conducted face-to-face and recorded on Monday, January 15th, 
between 10:00 until 11.05. 
 
Helena Nordberg is responsible for the credit and loan granting for small companies at 
Swedbank local office in Umeå. She is leading a team of 4 persons dealing daily with credits 
and loans for small companies. Helena Nordberg has a long carrier in Swedbank where she 
has been working for almost 25 years with different positions and tasks. She has been 
working with credits and loans for small companies since 1990. 
 
6.2.3 Nina Ivarsson, Handelsbanken – Umeå 
The interview has been conducted face-to-face and recorded on Tuesday, January 16th, 
between 10:05 until 10:55. 
 
Nina Ivarsson works in credit department at Handelsbanken local office in Umeå. Since 2005, 
she works within a team dealing with credits and loans for small, medium-sized and big 
companies. Before this position she has been working with credit and loan granting for 
individuals, private banking in different local offices in Sweden. She works more with 
companies on the property branch. However, she also deals with other kind of companies on 
her daily work. 
 
6.2.4 Ingemar Eckeskog, SEB – Umeå 
The interview has been conducted face-to-face and recorded on Tuesday, January 16th, 
between 15:10 until 15:50.  
 
Ingemar Eckeskog works with credit and loan granting for small, medium-sized and big 
companies at SEB local office in Umeå. He has been working in the company with these tasks 
for 6 years and before he worked with the same tasks at former Föreningsparbanken, new 
Swedbank, for a period of 10 years.  
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7. Empirical studies 
This chapter is dedicated to the results from the empirical studies. We present our findings in 
three main sections in order to make the reading easier to follow and understandable. The 
first part consists of the general questions around SMEs and the credit assessment for each of 
the banks presented previously. The second part presents the core of this thesis: the 
importance of financial information for lenders. The third and last part presents possible 
suggestions provided by the respondents to SMEs in order to help them to success in their 
loan applications. This last part is substantial since our underlying purpose with this research 
is that the outcome of the study should be useful for SMEs’ loan applications. As already 
mentioned before, we will present our results independently from the respondents by 
disguising the names of our respondents and the banks they are working in. Thus, we give 
them instead fictitious names in our presentation. Since two of the lending officers were 
working in the same bank and were interviewed together, we give them a same fictitious 
name.  
 
7.1 SMEs and Credit Assessment Process in general 
Before we begin to talk about how important the financial information is for our respondents, 
we firstly asked them to tell us how they define a SME in their companies. We found this 
question important since there is not really a standardised and general definition of a SME. 
Additionally, we wanted to know how does credit assessment process look like in general for 
each respective bank.  
 
Here are the questions related to this section: 
 

- How do you define SME in your company? 
- How does the credit assessment process look like in your company? 
- Give an example of a difficult credit process? 
- Do you treat differently SMES’ loan applications? 
- Does acquaintance play any roll in the credit and loan granting? 
- How many loans did you grant to SMEs for the last year? 

 
7.1.1 Respondent Ena, Bank Omega 
Bank Omega defines a small enterprise as an entity with a maximum financial turnover of 
SEK 10 millions and a maximum of 4 employees. A medium-sized enterprise is an entity with 
a financial turnover between SEK 10 and 250 millions and around 100 employees.  
 
The credit assessment process for Bank Omega is almost the same for small and medium-
sized enterprises. Lending officers at Bank Omega firstly if the company applying for loan is 
able to survive in different financial and market situations. Secondly they have to make a 
good judgement for the future if the present doesn’t look good and promising. According to 
the respondent there are different reasons for which a company can apply for a loan or credit 
and these reasons vary from one company to another. Consequently, each credit assessment 
process is unique and needs a special treatment.  
 
For respondent Ena a difficult credit assessment process often occurs when a new and small 
company wants to start a business. It can be a hard task for a lending officer to judge if the 
business idea is good. Another important task is to judge if the owner of the company will be 
able to run it and which knowledge and abilities he/she has. Ena says that a person can be a 
good technician or carpenter, but it is not sure that he/she is also a good entrepreneur. Finally, 
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the market situation also plays a big roll for SMES credit and loan application. There must be 
a space to implement a new business or investment.   
 
According to Respondent Ena, acquaintance with the person or the company applying for loan 
or credit can be both good and bad. Ena states that it is out of question to deal with a credit 
application from an acquaint company or person. One can recommend a company or a person 
to a colleague who is responsible for the application. It can be both good and bad 
recommendations, depending on how one knows the applicant. However, Ena thinks that 
applications from existing customers are easier to handle because one already knows who is 
the applicant and which business it is about. The lending officer will then look at the 
application but he/she already knows where it doesn’t need to put so much focus, but in all 
cases one has to focus on the company’s cash flow.  
 
Finally, Respondent Ena states that the company has the numbers about how many loans they 
granted the last year but the required information is confidential. The only information that 
Ena could give is that Bank Omega granted loans to more than 95 percent of medium-sized 
enterprises that applied for the last year. However, this proportion is lower for small 
enterprises (only more than 50 percent) since there is many new businesses applying for start 
capital. Ena says that they commonly deny loan applications from new businesses even if the 
owners of these businesses think that their business ideas are good.  
 
7.1.2 Respondent Duo, Bank Psi 
Bank Psi does not have any particular definition for SMEs. Each company is treated 
particularly but we don’t really define and differentiate what is a small or medium-sized 
enterprise. However, Duo states that there is a kind of internal limit for credit granting.  
 
Duo says that Bank Psi has different credit assessment process for a new and an existing 
customer. Most of the applications that Bank Psi’s lending officers deal with daily are from 
their existing customers. According to Duo, such kinds of applications are often easier to deal 
with and to judge. One already knows what kind of business it is about, how the company has 
been run in past and how the company’s future looks like. All these elements together make 
the credit process easier and quicker. Though, Duo says that one has to analyse different types 
of financial reports and numbers, in particular the company’s annual financial report. If it was 
a long time since the annual report has been published, one can require an updated report 
since old numbers can mislead.  
 
Respondent Duo declares that a difficult credit assessment can occur when one has to deal 
with business branch where one doesn’t have any background knowledge and where 
information is missing. In such cases, it can be very difficult to value the given information. 
Then, the big part of the credit assessment will consist of to understand and gather as much as 
possible information about this business branch. In addition, the lending officer has to grant 
understand what the company is going to use with this money.  
 
Bank Psi doesn’t have any particular credit process dedicated only for SME. Basically all 
credit process look like the same and consist of judging the numbers that the lending officer 
has and to understand which business one is dealing with. Duo continues and says that when it 
is about a bigger company the amount of loan to grant also becomes huge. One person usually 
takes the decision but when it concerns a large amount the decision is taken higher up in the 
bank and more people are involved along the way. This may imply that the company has to 
answer to even more specific questions as the decision is taken by a person that has not 
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actually met the representatives of the company himself or herself. On the other hand, large 
organisations are often better prepared to answer questions and explain their projects, they 
may have advisors that help them to present the application in a way that makes further 
questions unnecessary. 
 
Still, Duo points out that the fundamental in a credit assessment is to judge if the applicant 
will be able to pay back the loan. This depends on what are the company’s purposes and 
objectives and how the business is run, the size doesn’t matter. 
 
Duo says that there is no way to deal with an application from a close friend.  
“However if it is about someone I know, just an acquaintance, it can make the credit process 
easier. Easier because I then know whom I am dealing with, how much I can trust the person 
or the company. In most of the time it can be a positive point”. 
 
Finally, Respondent Duo states that they don’t have any statistic figures about how much loan 
and credit they granted to SMEs this last year. 
 
7.1.3 Respondent Tria, Bank Chi 
For the respondent Tria, SMEs is a big concept therefore there is no standardized definition 
for it. However, Bank Chi uses an internal classification where small enterprises are defined 
as enterprises with an annual turnover that is less than SEK 5 millions. Medium-sized 
enterprises are defined as enterprises with annual turnover between SEK 5 and 50 millions. 
 
According to the Respondent Tria, it may be a vast task to describe in general how the credit 
process looks like in Bank Chi. One can only say that the credit assessment varies from one 
company to another and from one situation to another. Consequently, it may be hard to give 
an example of a difficult credit assessment process.  
 
Tria continues and states that bigger companies ca easily produce a huge financial material 
and they can be more prepared on how to present it. Still, this doesn’t mean that big 
companies will be treated better than SMEs since it is generally easier to take a credit decision 
for SMEs. SMEs do not generally have a big need of loan in opposite to bigger companies. 
Thus, it will be easier to consider their loan application.  
  
Respondent Tria would not want to be responsible for an application from an acquaintance. 
However, if it is about a business acquaintance the relationship is purely business and it 
becomes easier to deal with. When a company is already an existing customer, the credit 
assessment is also easier since one knows more about the applicant. 
 
Finally, Respondent Tria doesn’t want to give any information about the number of loans 
Bank Chi granted to SMEs during the last year since this is confidential information.  
 
7.2 Credit Assessment Process and Financial Information 
The main question in our study was to know in what extend the financial information is used 
by lenders in a credit assessment process for SMEs. In this section, we tried to formulate 
simple and clear questions to the respondents since this is the key part in our thesis in order to 
get accurate answers. We begin by simple questions and then try to go a little deeper in the 
topic. Here are those questions related to this section: 
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- Do you take in consideration financial reports and accounts when you make 
a credit decision for SMEs?  

- Is there any other aspect you look at except the financial information? 
- Can you compare the importance between financial information and other 

kind of information you use in credit assessment? 
- How do you handle and use the financial information you get from customers 

(true and fair, relevant…)? 
- How do good financial reports and accounts look like according to you? 
- Which part in the financial information is more important than others? Can 

you classify them? 
 
7.2.1 Respondent Ena, Bank Omega 
Respondent Ena states that the financial information is so important for a credit decision. “I 
read all the financial reports and accounts from the customers but the degree of focus is not 
the same for all different parts!” 
 
Another important aspect to take into consideration during a credit assessment is how the 
market looks like. According to Ena, one can analyse the company and its environment in 
order to get the whole picture of it and see if it is really the right time for such investment. 
Although the financial information is very important, the lending officer has also to take into 
consideration some other information and aspects which are not financial. The most important 
is to understand why the company needs a loan and why the company’s situation looks like it 
is. 
 
Bank Omega has as a policy to trust the financial information they get from their customers. 
Though, Ena continues and says that sometimes it can be difficult to get financial information 
from small companies that are not registered on the stock market. Most of them do not think 
that financial information is not the most important part of the business. Therefore, it can take 
more time for a lending officer to get the required financial information from small 
businesses. According to Ena, the information given by a customer who uses an auditor to 
prepare the financial reports and accounts feels more relevant and fair. On the other hand, 
financial information from customers who do not use an auditor can feel a little bite uncertain.  
 
Ena states that it is important to follow the existing accounting and auditing laws and 
regulations. Even if the auditor’s report may not be needed in the future, Bank Omega will 
demand it from its customers in order to make financial information more credible and 
reliable.  
 
Finally, Ena argues that the most important parts in financial reports and accounts are the 
profit and loss account and the balance sheet. On one hand, a company’s profit and loss 
account and the notes following it are very important. They contain the needed information to 
see how profitable a business is. On the other hand, the balance sheet is also important since 
one can see how the company has arranged its capital. The lending officer may also look at 
the company’s ratio, but this part can be easily calculated directly by the lending officer. The 
cash flow also contains important information for a credit assessment. Although, the profit 
and loss account looks well, a cash flow with not good numbers can make the lending officer 
hesitating. The lending officer has to analyse and see if the company’s cash flow will be able 
to pay the credit rates and how this will affect the future cash flow. According to Ena, the 
director’s report is the part in the financial report and accounts that has less importance. 
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7.2.2 Respondent Duo, Bank Psi 
Respondent Duo states that it is important to read the whole financial report and accounts, 
with a different degree of focus on different parts depending on the situation. For an existing 
customer, one has just to check if all numbers look well. For a new company, one has to look 
at the financial information a little bit closer. Although, all depend on what kind of investment 
and credit the company needs.  
 
According to Duo the financial information is an important part on credit assessment. 
However, one has to understand what the customer wants to do with money and analyse 
which problems and opportunities that exist in order to take a fair decision. Duo continues and 
says that good financial report and accounts have to be clear and understandable. Thus, the 
notes are very important and make it easy to understand the information contained in the 
financial report and accounts. Some financial reports’ notes don’t give good and clear 
information and it is difficult to understand what they mean. In summary, a good financial 
report has to be short and clear and containing all needed information.  
 
Duo emphasizes the value of an auditor’s report at the end of an annual financial report since 
it makes the financial information more reliable. The lending officer has to trust the 
information from the applicant after checking that all the numbers are true and fair. Most of 
the applicants are honest and handle reliable information.  
 
Finally, Duo points out that all parts in a financial report contain significant information and 
only the balance sheet is not enough. Nevertheless, the cash flow and the ratio are the less 
important parts for Bank Psi since lending officers can calculate these numbers themselves. 
The ratio can be calculated in different ways and Bank Psi has its way to calculate it. Though, 
Duo thinks that the profit and loss accounts with the balance sheet are the first part to read in a 
financial report. The director’s report does not contain so much information since one can get 
the same information during a face-to-face interview with the owner.  
 
7.2.3 Respondent Tria, Bank Chi 
Tria states that it is the situation that determines the credit assessment process. Bank Chi uses 
the financial information as the starting point of the decision in a credit assessment if it 
concerns new customers.  Most of Bank Chi’s applicants come with both official and 
unofficial financial information. For existing customers, one already knows much about them 
and the most important is then to understand which future plans they have. The lending 
officer can make reasonable future estimations using prognoses and budgets’ material. 
 
According to Tria, the needed financial information depends on what kind of business the 
lending officer is dealing with. Most of the existing customers have already historical 
documentation about how the business is going. Then, the lending officer just needs to 
analyse the customer’s business plan and most of the customers have it.  
 
Tria emphasizes that Bank Chi trusts its customers’ financial reports. The most important is to 
discuss with the customer in order to understand how he or she thinks. Both financial and 
non-financial information is needed but it varies from different situations. Tria continues and 
argues that some customers are used to overestimate their business capacity, but one doesn’t 
have to loose confidence in them. There are also some customers who are used to 
underestimate their business capacity and sometimes willingly. The lending officer has to 
analyse the numbers under a long period in order to detect misleading notions. Before 
applying for a loan, the applicant has to answer these questions: how the credit is going to 
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affect the business, what is the cost of the investment and what is or are the gains from the 
loan.  
 
Tria argues that good and accurate financial information is the information that a company 
gives to its stockholders. This kind of information is more reliable and trustable since it is not 
just adapted to lenders. Most of the time, a company doesn’t give all the needed financial 
information to the lenders while applying for a credit. However, Tria is satisfied because 
some of their customers handle even such internal and unofficial information during their 
application.  
 
Finally, Tria declares that it is not easy to say which part in a financial report is more 
important than the other and all depends on which situation one has. In some cases, it is 
important to know how big is the company’s start capital and how much it invests. 
Furthermore, one has to look at which securities the company has for its loan and if there are 
some other investors. New companies do not have any background financial information, thus 
the lending officer has just to look at how the future looks like. Other significant aspects that 
one has to take into consideration are the owner’s education and what kind of market analysis 
the company has done. To sum up, the procedure can be hard and difficult before one makes a 
fair and good judgement.  
 
7.3 Advice and instructions to improve SMEs’ loan applications? 
One of the underlying aims of our study is to help SMEs to improve their knowledge on how 
credit assessment process works in general so that they can improve their creditworthiness. 
We believe that it can be very useful for SMEs to have reliable information and advices 
directly from bank professionals. We use the following questions in this section: 
 

- Can you require financial reports and accounts from your customers 
whenever you want?  

- Are you satisfied with the way your customers present their financial reports 
and accounts? 

- What kind of advice and instructions can you give to SMEs for their loan 
applications? 

 
7.3.1 Respondent Ena, Bank Omega 
Ena states that all applicants can have a second chance if their loan application is declined. 
Bank Omega can require that the applicant come back again with new numbers in order to 
take a new decision. Even existing customers can be required to handle fresh numbers if the 
bank estimates that there are problems in the branch where the customer is operating in.  Even 
if this kind of situation does not occur often, a lending officer has to check sometimes what 
kinds of risks exist in a specific branch and market.  
 
According to Ena, it is a little bit difficult to get financial report and accounts from small 
companies. Some of small companies don’t understand why creditors require financial reports 
and why this information is important which makes their loan application difficult to treat. 
Some owners in small companies have to realize that paper work is not maybe their strong 
side and have to leave this work to someone who has more knowledge and skills of it. 
Medium-sized enterprises can encounter the same problem but they produce better financial 
material than small enterprises. The only problem about medium-sized enterprises is that they 
can handle lately their financial information depending on how quick their auditors are. They 
could handle their financial reports earlier if they well collaborate with their auditors.  
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Finally, Ena suggests to SMEs to well prepare their business plans and budgets. They also 
have to know about the numbers they present so that they can show that they make efforts. 
 
“Unfortunately, some can get external help to present their application, but then we realized 
that they don’t really have any idea about what is written on the paper.”  Ena continues and 
says that the applicant has to show that he/she understands how the loan will affect his/her 
business. The most important is that the customer shows that he or she understands well his or 
her business plans and all the information he or she gives to the bank.  
 
7.3.2 Respondent Duo, Bank Psi 
Duo states that bank Psi has a schedule when existing customers have to handle their financial 
report. This schedule varies from one customer to another and depends on how the bank and 
the customer are both involved. Existing customers have to present their annual financial 
report, but if there is a problem the customer can be required to handle the financial report 
before the end of the year. Duo is satisfied with the way customers present their financial 
reports and accounts.  It is easier to get the needed financial information from most of limited 
companies since they have an auditor who takes care of it. Most of the problems occur in new 
businesses since some of their owners are good entrepreneurs but not good at paper work. In 
this category, they differ so much in how they present their business plans and ideas. Duo 
suggests to owners of new businesses to use help from professionals when they prepare their 
credit application. This would make things easier for them and they will gain more time.  
 
7.3.3 Respondent Tria, Bank Chi 
Tria states that they always get the official financial information from their customers, but it 
varies from case to case. Some customers are followed closely, for instance monthly. The 
lending officer has in all case to keep a permanent telephone contact with the customers in 
order to stay update of their financial situation.  
 
“It is a business and we have to keep in touch with our customers in order to keep them. Then 
it is the economic situation that decides.” 
 
Tria does not answer on the question about customers’ satisfaction. Tria states that a customer 
is not a bad entrepreneur just because he/she is not good at presenting financial reports. Bank 
Chi helps the customers who have difficult with paper work in order to estimate what they 
gain from their investment.  The bank and its customers collaborate and work together on the 
market and business prognoses and analysis of the future. 
 
Finally, Tri suggests to all SMEs to well prepare and consider their business plans before a 
loan application. SMEs have to answer these main questions before applying: what does the 
company want to do, what are the needs that are on the market, how much investment is 
needed and how to pay back the loan? After that, one can plan how to finance the investment, 
but the first step is a good preparation and planning.   
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8. Analysis 
In this section we bring together the chosen theories and the results from the empirical 
studies and make an analysis. The way of conducting the analysis is based on the sections and 
topics that we found interesting and relevant to our research problem. We use tables in order 
to compare the results from different banks and thereby make it easier for the reader to make 
connection between the theoretical framework and the empirical findings. We also give our 
own points of view on each topic. 
 
8.1. SMEs and credit assessment process 
 
 A. Bank Omega B. Bank Psi C. Bank Chi 
1. SMEs’ definition -SE: max. 4 

employees and SEK 
10 millions of 
financial turnover. 
-ME: around 100 
employees and SEK 
10-250 millions of 
financial turnover. 

No particular 
definition for SMEs. 

-SE: max. SEK 5 
millions of annual 
turnover. 
-ME: 5-50 millions of 
annual turnover. 
 

2. Key aspects for 
credit assessment 
process 

-Evaluate SME’s 
financial and market 
environment. 
-Assess the SME’s 
future financial 
forecasts.  
- Understand why 
the SME needs a 
loan. 

-Differ from new and 
existing customers. 
-Evaluate SME’s 
annual financial 
reports. 
-The fundamental is 
to judge repayment 
abilities.  
-Understand why the 
SME needs a loan. 
-Analyse problems 
and opportunities for 
the investment 

-Vary from one 
company to another 
and from one 
situation to another 
-Discuss with the 
customer 
-Analyse the numbers 
under a long period 
-The company’s 
securities for its loan 
-The owner’s skills 

3. How banks handle 
SMEs’ loan 
applications 

-No comments -No particular 
treatment for SMEs’ 
loan applications. 

- No particular 
treatment for SMEs’ 
loan applications. 

4. Impact of social 
network 

-Acquaintance can 
both be good and 
bad. 
-Existing customers’ 
applications are 
easier to handle.   

-Acquaintance can 
make the credit 
process easier. 

-Business 
acquaintance is a 
positive aspect. 

 
Figure 3 
 
SE: Small Enterprise  
ME: Medium-sized Enterprise 
 
According to the European Union, a small enterprise is a company with a number of 
employees between 10 and 49 and with annual turnover or annual balance sheet total assets 
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employed that not exceed 10 millions Euro. A medium-sized enterprise is a company that has 
between 50 and 249 employees with an annual turnover that does not exceed 50 millions 
euros or an annual balance sheet total asset that does not exceed 43 millions euros. The 
Swedish Accounting Board (Bokföringsnämnden) follows the same regulations directed by 
the European Union; therefore these definitions can be applied even to Swedish companies. 
 
All banks have different definitions of SMEs. Only bank Omega has a close definition of 
SMEs as the European Union’s. We think that since countries in European Union differ on 
size, density and economic development, it is difficult to give a standardized definition for 
SMEs. The important is to be in the limits recommended by the European Union. In that case, 
even bank Chi can be considered to follow the European Union’s recommendations on SMEs.  
 
Credit assessment process differs from one bank to another. However, there are some 
similarities when it comes to which key elements lending officers focus on. These key 
elements are mainly the evaluation of the company’s financial reports and the future cash 
flows in order to see if the company will be able to repay the loan and interest rates. Another 
significant aspect in credit assessment process is the acquaintance with the lender. Almost all 
banks stated that it is easier to deal with an existing company than a new one. There is not any 
specific model for credit assessment that is common for all banks. However, we found that all 
banks use the same key factors existing in the credit assessment process model and in the five 
Cs- Expert systems model that we presented before. According to us, the reason why each 
bank has its own credit assessment process can depend on the fact that each bank has its own 
internal regulations. Meanwhile, we think that the evaluation of the company’s financial 
reports and future cash flows forecast give a better understanding of the company’s financial 
situation. Therefore, all banks use these factors to assess SMEs creditworthiness.  
 
Before the interviews, we were expected that SMEs’ loan applications should be different and 
easier to handle when compared to big companies. We thought that since SMEs apply for 
small volume loans, their loan applications should be easier to handle. Our standing point 
corresponds with what we get from bank Psi and Chi. Though; theories give an opposite 
version meaning that it is more difficult to handle SMEs’ loan applications. We could not find 
any suitable explanation for why theories and empirical findings do not correspond on this 
point. 
 
According to the social network theory, the interaction between banks/financial institutions 
and their customers is fundamental and revolves around trust that can be transmitted directly 
or indirectly. This aspect seems to be vital since all banks stated that acquaintance makes the 
credit assessment process easier. Social networks play always a big roll in all social 
interactions. Therefore, even in business it seems obvious and logical for us that this aspect 
has an influential roll. 
 
Finally, we found that all our respondents were not willing to give us the exactly number of 
how much loans and credits they granted to SMEs for the last year. We were aware about how 
sensitive and confidential this information could be; therefore we were not surprised by their 
answers and did not insist. This question was asked in order to see if SMEs constitute a major 
or important customer for our chosen banks and thereby see if the banks that we interviewed 
are relevant to the study. Even through we did not received any number, we were confirmed 
that most the companies that are applying for the loans are included in the SME category. One 
of the respondent even said that most of the companies that operate in Umeå are SMEs and 
therefore most of the customers are SMEs.  
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8.2 The significance of financial reports 
 
 A. Bank Omega B. Bank Psi C. Bank Chi 
1. Significance of 
financial reports in 
SMEs’ credit 
assessment. 

-Very significant 
 

-Significant 
 

-Significant  

2. Main 
characteristics of 
financial reports 

-Have to be 
understood 
-More relevant and fair 
if certified by an 
auditor’s  
 

-Clear and 
understandable  
-Short 
-More reliable if 
certified by an 
auditor’s  

-Reliable and 
trustable 

3. Most important 
parts in financial 
reports and accounts  

-The profit and loss 
accounts. 
-The balance sheet 
-The cash flow 

- The profit and loss 
accounts. 
-The balance sheet 
-The notes 

-Not easy to classify, 
it depends on the 
situation 

 
Figure 4 
 
Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB) states that lenders are among the primary user 
groups of accounting information. Therefore, they are supposed to be mostly interested in the 
amounts, timing, and uncertainties of the future cash flows. The company’s accounting data 
helps lenders while assessing default risk. Thus, the decision about loan granting is sensitively 
related to key accounting data. Additionally, the five Cs expert systems model states that the 
payment behaviour of a credit can be analyse on the basis of financial data. 
 
In our empirical findings, we found on one side that all banks agreed that the financial 
information is very significant in the credit assessment process. On the other side, they all 
mentioned that it is not only the financial information that matter, there are other factors that 
play a major roll and have therefore to be taken into consideration. Finally they all mentioned 
that financial data is very significant because one has to study if a company is able to pay 
back the credit and this is mainly based on the financial data that a company handle.  
 
The main characteristics of financial reports differ from one bank to another. Still, most of the 
banks agreed that financial reports have to be understandable and trustable. For banks Omega 
and Psi, the auditor’s report is major to make the financial reports more reliable. 
 
In the beginning, we thought that the loss and profit accounts with the balance sheet are the 
main parts of the financial reports to be examined. These parts contain most of the 
information that can explain the company’s financial situation. From this information, the 
lending officer can assess the company’s creditworthiness. We were not therefore surprised 
by the results of our findings. Most of the banks classified these two parts of the financial 
reports as their starting points during credit assessment. Yet, all banks mentioned that it is 
important to read and analyse the whole financial report since all the parts must be included 
and contain relevant and needed information.  
 
Most of the other non-financial information are more subjective and can easily mislead a 
decision during credit assessment process. On the other hand, financial reports contain 
material information that is more objective and reliable. Therefore, we think that financial 
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reports should be the starting point and also the main tool to consider during SMEs’ loan 
applications. 
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9. Conclusion and Suggestions 
In this section, we link our research question, purpose, theoretical framework and the 
empirical results done in the whole study. We begin by concluding our topic based on the 
empirical results of the conducted interviews and the presented analysis. Some instructions 
and advices from respondents are also presented in this section. We conclude by discussing 
and giving our own possible recommendations on how SMEs can improve their chance of 
getting a loan. Some suggestions for the future researches are also given in order to 
contribute to this kind of research.   
 
9.1 Conclusion  
We had a very instructive time during the writing of this thesis. The subject was interesting, 
motivating and challenging.  
 
This research has studied and analysed the importance of financial data when SMEs are 
applying for a loan in banks and financial institutions. Our main purpose was to know how 
banks use financial information during SMEs’ loan granting. Our underling purpose of the 
research has been to offer possible suggestions to SMEs so that, based on the usefulness of 
financial statements, their loan applications can be more successful.  
 
In order to present to the reader a clear, significant and understandable study and 
recommendations, we connect our purposes to the theoretical knowledge and the empirical 
findings. We also provide some suggestions on how SMEs can improve their credit position.  
 
We conducted interviews with three of the major banks in Sweden. Still, we call attention to 
the fact that the proposal suggestions should not be generalised to all credit assessments or all 
SMEs. We even found that credit assessment and how banks evaluate financial data vary from 
one bank to another. Readers should therefore keep in mind that the recommendations given 
in this study should not be generalised. However, we think that SMEs should take these 
suggestions into consideration before applying for a loan.  
 
We began the empirical section by giving information about how banks define SMEs and 
what kinds of policies are applied during their loan applications. All three banks have their 
own internal definitions for SMEs; however their ways of defining SMEs are close to the 
European Union’s. There is no specific policy for SMEs’ loan applications. The size of the 
company does not play any significant role when it comes to loan decision-making. Finally, 
the way of evaluating loan for SMEs is likely related to the credit assessment process model 
and five Cs- Expert systems. 
 
The second step was to evaluate the usefulness of the financial data, and to how these data are 
used in the credit assessment process. We found that financial data are very important and 
relevant tools and helps banks to evaluate the SMEs’ creditworthiness. All respondents 
mentioned that the financial statements are keys factors mainly when evaluating if a SME will 
be able to repay back the loan and also fulfil the payment of interest rates. These aspects are 
vital when banks have to make decision on SMEs’ loan applications. Still, there are other 
factors that play a major roll and have therefore to be taken into consideration such as 
acquaintance and what the loan is going to be used for. 
 
The main purpose with our thesis was to answer the question:” How do banks use financial 
reports and accounts during SMEs’ loan granting?” The results from our empirical study 
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were able to give us the answer to our research question. Financial reports and accounts are 
very significant and largely used by lenders while assessing SMEs’ loan applications. Banks 
use financial information as a tool to determine a company’s creditworthiness. Thus, we can 
conclude without any doubt that financial reports and accounts affect largely SMEs’ loan 
applications. Moreover, the study has permitted us to even fulfil the goal of our underlying 
purpose that was to provide possible suggestions to SMEs and thereby make their loan 
applications more successful. We present these suggestions on the following section. 
 
9.2 Suggestions 
In this section we want to give possible suggestions based on our understanding of the results 
of this study in order to improve the success of SMEs’ loan applications. Respondents pointed 
out that most of the problems in presenting loan applications occur when it is about small and 
new started enterprises. They mentioned that it is important for owners in small enterprises to 
leave the auditing and accounting work to somebody who has these skills such as auditors. 
This will minimize the risk to get the required financial information late, will make the 
information more reliable and therefore will increase the chances to get the loan that the 
company has applied for. Some of SMEs often manipulate their financial statements in order 
to make them better before applying for loans. Bank officers argue that they can detect these 
manipulations by comparing numbers from previous years. These manipulations of financial 
statements make the credit assessment longer since bank officers need then more time to 
evaluate why and how these changes occurred and if they are logical. Furthermore, our 
respondents pointed out once again that the most important for SMEs is to well prepare their 
loan applications before they present it. Only good numbers in a financial report are not good 
enough for getting a loan, one has to show a good personal involvement and commitment.  
 
9.3 Suggestion for Future Research 
SMEs are one of the key motors for economic development. As we already mentioned in the 
beginning of this thesis, there are still needs for further knowledge in this topic. Therefore, we 
think that more research could put some lights on this field and thereby make SMEs’ loan 
applications more successful. We think that by helping them to make their loan applications 
more successful will have a big and positive impact on their functioning since they mostly 
finance their business through bank loans and all the society will benefit on it.   
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Appendix 
 
Interview guideline 
 
How we plan to proceed on our interview 
 

 First of all we thank the respondent for his/her time, availability and have accepted to 
contribute and participate in our study.  

 
 Then we make a short presentation of ourselves and the purpose of our thesis. 

 
 Since we are going to use a tape recorder, we inform the respondent that after all 

needed transcription and translation we will send him/her the written documentation of 
the interview in order to avoid the errors that may occur.  

 
 Finally we guarantee the respondent that all given information will be treated 

confidentially and presented anonymously. Then we will ask the respondent to make a 
short personal presentation: name, in which department he/she works, which position 
and field of responsibility he/she has, how many years he/she has been working with 
SMEs credit/loan granting. 

 
Interview questions 
 

1) How do you define a SME in your company and how many SMEs customers do you 
have? 

 
2) Can you describe how in general credit assessment process looks like?  

a. Can you give an example of a hard and complicated credit assessment decision? 
b. Do you use any specific credit assessment model in your decision? 

 
3) How does your company use financial information when you consider SMEs’ 

loan/credit applications? 
a. Do you read the financial reports and accounts in their entirety or just some parts 

of them? 
b. How do you deal with the financial information that you receive from SMEs?  
c. Which part (parts) in the financial reports and accounts is (are) more important 

and relevant than others? Classify them from more to less important, relevant 
and vital:  

  a) Balance sheet 
  b) Profit and loss account 
  c) Cash flow statement 
  d) Directors’ report 
  e) Auditors’ report 
  f) Notes to the financial statements  
  g) Ratio 

 
4) How important and relevant is the financial information compare to other information 

that you take in consideration while examining a SME’s loan/credit application?  
a. How does a good financial report look like and which parts must it contain? 
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5) During this last year, how many SMEs applied for loans/credits? How many of them 

did you accept to give the loan/credit? 
a. Did those whose loan/credit application was accepted had financial reports and 

accounts that looked better than those whose loan/credit application was denied? 
(Presentation, Contents).  

 
6) What is (are) your comment (s) about how your SMEs customers present their 

financial reports and accounts? (Satisfied or need more improvements from their 
side?) 

a. Which are their biggest lacks and obstacles?  
 

7) What kind of advice or recommendation should you give to SMEs about how they 
have to present their financial reports and accounts so that their credit/loan application 
can have more chance to be accepted? 

 
 


